MOLECULAR CHARACTERISATION OF EXTENDED-SPECTRUM BETA-LACTAMASE-AND CARBAPENEMASE- PRODUCING Pseudomonas aeruginosa FROM A TERTIARY HOSPITAL IN MALAYSIA

HANNAH PHOON YIK PHING

FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2018

MOLECULAR CHARACTERISATION OF EXTENDED-SPECTRUM BETA-LACTAMASE- AND CARBAPENEMASE- PRODUCING *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* FROM A TERTIARY HOSPITAL IN MALAYSIA

HANNAH PHOON YIK PHING

DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

INSTITUTE OF BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2018

UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA ORIGINAL LITERARY WORK DECLARATION

Name of Candidate: Hannah Phoon Yik Phing

Matric No: SGR 14

Name of Degree: Master of Science

Title of Project Paper/Research Report/Dissertation/Thesis ("this Work"): Molecular characterisation of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase- and carbapenemase- producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from a tertiary hospital in Malaysia

Field of Study: Genetics and Molecular Biology

I do solemnly and sincerely declare that:

- (1) I am the sole author/writer of this Work;
- (2) This Work is original;
- (3) Any use of any work in which copyright exists was done by way of fair dealing and for permitted purposes and any excerpt or extract from, or reference to or reproduction of any copyright work has been disclosed expressly and sufficiently and the title of the Work and its authorship have been acknowledged in this Work;
- (4) I do not have any actual knowledge nor do I ought reasonably to know that the making of this work constitutes an infringement of any copyright work;
- (5) I hereby assign all and every rights in the copyright to this Work to the University of Malaya ("UM"), who henceforth shall be owner of the copyright in this Work and that any reproduction or use in any form or by any means whatsoever is prohibited without the written consent of UM having been first had and obtained;
- (6) I am fully aware that if in the course of making this Work I have infringed any copyright whether intentionally or otherwise, I may be subject to legal action or any other action as may be determined by UM.

Candidate's Signature

Date:

Subscribed and solemnly declared before,

Witness's Signature

Date:

Name:

Designation:

MOLECULAR CHARACTERISATION OF EXTENDED-SPECTRUM BETA-LACTAMASE- AND CARBAPENEMASE- PRODUCING *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* FROM A TERTIARY HOSPITAL IN MALAYSIA ABSTRACT

Pseudomonas aeruginosa infections are responsible for high morbidity and mortality rates globally. Increasing resistance towards β -lactams, especially carbapenems pose a serious therapeutic challenge. However, the multilocus sequence typing (MLST) of extended-spectrum beta lactamase (ESBL)- and carbapenemase-producing clinical P. aeruginosa have not been reported in Malaysia. In addition, few studies in Malaysia reported characterisation of P. aeruginosa from hospital environmental sources. The objectives of this study were to determine the antibiotic susceptibility profiles, resistance genes, pulsotypes and sequence types of clinical and environmental P. aeruginosa from a tertiary hospital in Malaysia. These characteristics were analysed by disk diffusion, minimum inhibitory concentration, PCR, pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), and MLST for 199 non-replicate clinical strains and 29 environmental strains. The 29 environmental strains were isolated from a total of 358 swab and fluid samples from healthcare workers' hands, frequently touched surfaces, medical equipment, patients' immediate surroundings, ward sinks and toilets and solutions or fluids of 12 selected wards. Less than 90% of the 199 clinical strains were susceptible towards the carbapenems and piperacillin-tazobactam, whilst $\geq 90\%$ of the strains remained susceptible to all other classes of antimicrobial agents tested. All 29 environmental strains were susceptible to antibiotics tested. The 12 multidrug resistant strains displayed high level resistance to cephalosporins (48 to ≥ 256 mg/L), and carbapenems (4 to 32 mg/L). Eleven clinical strains harboured the class 1 integron containing blages-13, blavIM-2, blavIM-2 6, *bla*_{OXA-10}, *aacA*(6')-*Ib*, *aacA*(6')-*II*, *aadA*6 and *gcuD* gene cassettes. The extra-integron

genes, *bla*_{GES-20}, *bla*_{IMP-4}, *bla*_{VIM-2}, and *bla*_{VIM-11} were also found. The top three sources of clinical strains were sputum (25.6%), wound swab (16.6%), and tracheal aspirate (15.6%); the majority of which were isolated from patients in the medical wards (30.2%), surgical wards (16.6%), and the ICU (13.6%). Distribution of the environmental P. aeruginosa were mostly from moist and semi aqueous environments of handwashing sinks and toilets. The PFGE method subtyped the strains from the NICU into two major clusters and this finding agreed with the MLST data. This implies that there was an undetected outbreak of antibiotic susceptible P. aeruginosa clones at the time of sampling. Based on the PFGE analysis, strains were shown to be genetically heterogeneous with multiple subtypes of P. aeruginosa persisting in the different locations or wards in the hospital. The investigation of the genetic linkage for drug resistant international lineages is better mapped via MLST. The STs 235, 809, and 1076 clonal clusters consisted of MDRPA clinical strains. P. aeruginosa ST111 and ST235 strains were previously reported to be multidrug or extensively-drug resistant high-risk international clones found in France, Germany, Japan, Spain and Belgium. Overall, the Maximum Likelihood (ML) tree showed concordance in the clustering of clinical and environmental strains having the same STs, and PFGE clusters implying that both subtyping methods are useful for the investigation of the genetic relatedness P. aeruginosa lineages. This is the first report of the bla_{GES-13} and bla_{GES-20} ESBL-encoding gene variants and novel sequence types (STs 2329, 2335, 2337, 2338, 2339, 2340, and 2341) of *P. aeruginosa* in Malaysia.

Keywords: Antimicrobial resistance, MLST, PFGE, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, resistance genes.

PENCIRIAN MOLEKULAR STRAIN-STRAIN *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* YANG MENGHASILKAN EXTENDED-SPECTRUM BETA-LACTAMASE DAN CARBAPENEMASE DARIPADA SEBUAH HOSPITAL TERTIER DI MALAYSIA

ABSTRAK

Jangkitan Pseudomonas aeruginosa bertanggungjawab untuk kadar morbiditi dan kematian yang tinggi di seluruh dunia. Peningkatan kerintangan terhadap β -lactam, terutamanya carbapenem menimbulkan cabaran rawatan yang serius. Walau bagaimanapun, multilocus sequence typing (MLST) P. aeruginosa klinikal yang menghasilkan extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL) dan carbapenemase belum pernah dilaporkan di Malaysia. Selain itu, kajian dan pencirian P. aeruginosa dari sumber persekitaran dalam hospital di Malaysia jarang dilaporkan sebelum ini. Objektif kajian ini adalah untuk menentukan profil kerintangan antibiotik, gen rintangan, pulsotip dan sequence type P. aeruginosa klinikal dan persekitaran dari sebuah hospital tertier di Malaysia. Ciri-ciri ini dianalisa melalui disk diffusion, minimum inhibitory concentration, PCR, pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), dan MLST untuk 199 strain klinikal dan 29 strain persekitaran. Strain persekitaran (n = 29) telah diasingkan daripada sejumlah 358 sampel swab dan cecair dari tangan kakitangan perubatan, permukaan wad yang kerap disentuh, peralatan perubatan, persekitaran sekeliling pesakit, sinki dan tandas wad, serta cecair dari 12 wad yang terpilih. Kurang daripada 90% daripada strain klinikal adalah sensitif kepada *carbapenem* dan *piperacillin-tazobactam*, manakala $\geq 90\%$ daripada strain sensitif kepada semua kelas antibiotik yang diuji. Semua 29 strain persekitaran sensitif kepada antibiotik yang diuji. Strain *multidrug* (n = 12) MDRPA menunjukkan rintangan tahap tinggi kepada *cephalosporins* (48 hingga \geq 256mg/L), dan carbapenem (4 hingga 32 mg/L). Sebelas strain klinikal membawa integron kelas 1 yang mengandungi kaset gen-gen blages-13, blavim-2, blavim-6, blaoxa-10, aacA(6')-Ib, aacA(6')-

II, aadA6 dan gcuD. Gen luaran integron, bla_{GES-20}, bla_{IMP-4}, bla_{VIM-2}, dan bla_{VIM-11} juga dijumpai. Tiga sumber utama strain klinikal adalah sputum (25.6%), swab luka (16.6%), dan aspirat trakea (15.6%); kebanyakannya diasingkan daripada pesakit di wad perubatan (30.2%), wad pembedahan (16.6%), dan ICU (13.6%). Pengagihan P. aeruginosa persekitaran didapati dari permukaan yang lembap dan separa berair seperti sinki dan tandas. Kaedah PFGE subtype strain dari NICU ke dalam dua kluster utama dan hasil ini dipersetujui dengan data MLST. Ini menunjukkan bahawa terdapat wabak P. aeruginosa yang sensitif antibiotik, yang tidak terkesan pada masa pensampelan. Berdasarkan analisis PFGE, terdapat pelbagai subtip P. aeruginosa yang heterogeneous secara genetik yang dipencilkan dari lokasi atau wad berlainan. Siasatan perkaitan genetik bagi keturunan strain antarabangsa yang rintang antibiotik lebih jelas dicoretkan melalui MLST. ST 235, 809, dan 1076 terdiri daripada strain klinikal MDRPA. P. aeruginosa ST111 dan ST235 sebelum ini dilaporkan sebagai klon antarabangsa yang berisiko tinggi dan rintang antibiotik di Perancis, Jerman, Jepun, Sepanyol dan Belgium. Secara keseluruhannya, pokok Maximum Likelihood (ML) menunjukkan keserasian antara klustering strain klinikal dan persekitaran yang mempunyai ST yang sama dengan kluster PFGE. Ini menunjukkan bahawa kedua-dua kaedah subtyping berguna untuk penyiasatan perkaitan genetik P. aeruginosa. Ini adalah laporan pertama varian ESBL blaGES-13 dan bla_{GES-20} dan ST baru (ST 2329, 2335, 2337, 2338, 2339, 2340, dan 2341) P. aeruginosa di Malaysia.

Kata kunci: Kerintangan antibiotik; MLST; PFGE; Pseudomonas aeruginosa; gen rintangan

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express my gratitude to the Ministry of Health (MOH) Malaysia for the financial support via the post graduate scholarship programme, Hadiah Latihan Persekutuan (HLP). I also thank the Director General of MOH, for manuscript publication approvals. In addition, my research was also funded by the University of Malaya Post Graduate Research Fund PPP (PG073-2014B).

Next, I extend my appreciation to my supervisors and bosses, Professor Dr. Thong Kwai Lin, Dr Baizurah Mohd Hussain, and Dr Hazilawati Hussin for their expert advice and professional guidance throughout the course of my research.

I thank Dato' Dr Aishah Ahmad Makinuddin, Hospital Director, Dr Melor @ Mohd Yusof Mohd Mansor, Head of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Unit, Dato' Dr Chang Kian Meng, Head of Haematology Department, Dr Muralitharan Ganesalingam, Head of O&G Department, Dr Nor Aishah bt Mohd Arif, Head of General Surgery Department, Dr Hjh Rosaida Hj Mohd Said, Head of General Medicine Department, Dr Zuraidah Haji Abdul Latif, Head of Paediatric Department, Matron Noor Hayati Kamaruddin of the Infection Control Unit, and Hew Kim Fong, Scientific Officer, from the Ampang Hospital, Selangor, Malaysia for their assistance during sample collection.

I also express my deepest gratitude to my family members, especially my husband, who were my strong pillars of support when going through challenging and difficult times during my research. I am thankful for the assistance and help extended to me by my laboratory colleagues, namely Lee Hui Key, Tan Shiang Chiet, Ngoi Soo Tein, Ho Wing Sze, Kalaivani Chelvam, Yap Kien Pong, Koh Xiu Pei, Lim Shu Yong, Anis Nadhirah and Golnaz Mobasseri. Finally, I thank Jesus, the Author and Finisher of my faith, that I can complete the task of research and analysis, manuscript publications and final dissertation submission.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	iii
Abstrak	V
Acknowledgements	vii
Table of Contents	viii
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xiii
List of Symbols and Abbreviations	xiv
List of Appendices	XV
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Research objectives	2
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1 Clinical significance of <i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</i>	4
2.2 Environmental reservoirs of <i>P. aeruginosa</i>	5
2.3 Emergence and development of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> antimicrobial resistance	6
2.4 Mechanisms and genes of resistance	8
2.4.1 Extended-spectrum beta-lactamase	8
2.4.2 Carbapenemase	9
2.4.3 Class 1 and 2 integrons	9
2.5 Molecular subtyping of <i>P. aeruginosa</i>	11
2.5.1 Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis	12
2.5.2 Multilocus sequence typing	13

3.1	Pseudomonas aeruginosa strain collection	. 15
3.1.1	Clinical strains collection and identification	.15
3.1.2	Environmental strains collection	. 16
3.1.3	Antibiotic susceptibility testing	.17
	3.1.3.1 Kirby Bauer method	17
	3.1.3.2 Minimum inhibitory concentration method	.17
3.1.4	Detection of ESBL and carbapenem resistant genes	18
3.1.5	Class 1 and 2 integron detection and gene cassette determination	. 18
3.1.6	9 PFGE	. 19
3.1.7	' MLST	. 19
CHA	APTER 4: RESULTS	.21
4.1	Strains identification	.21
4.1.1	Biochemical testing results	21
4.1.2	Confirmation of strain identity by PCR	.22
4.2	Strain distribution and prevalence in the hospital	23
4.3	Antibiotic susceptibility profiles	26
4.3.1	Kirby Bauer results	.26
4.3.2	2 Minimum inhibitory concentration results	.27
4.4	Resistance genes, class 1 and class 2 integrons	. 30
4.4.1	ESBL and carbapenem resistance genes	. 30
4.4.2	Integron-borne gene cassettes	33
4.5	Genetic diversity of <i>P. aeruginosa</i>	34
4.5.1	Genetic relatedness of clinical strains based on PFGE analyses	34
4.5.2	PFGE analyses for environmental strains	. 38
4.5.3	MLST	39

4.5.3.2 Maximum likelihood analyses 4.5.3.3 Combined analyses for MLST, PFGE, and resistance genes genotypes CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION References List of Publications and Papers Presented Appendix Output		analyses
4.5.3.3 Combined analyses for MLST, PFGE, and resistance genes genotypes CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION References List of Publications and Papers Presented Appendix Chapter 6: Conclusion	4.5.3.2	Maximum likelihood analyses
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	4.5.3.3	Combined analyses for MLST, PFGE, and resistance genes genotypes
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION	CHAPTER 5: DISCU	USSION
References	CHAPTER 6: CONC	CLUSION
List of Publications and Papers Presented	References	
Appendix	List of Publications an	d Papers Presented
	Appendix	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 4.1: A representative photo of biochemical reactions for <i>P. aeruginosa</i> identification using an API 20NE test kit	21
Figure 4.2: Environmental isolates grown cultured on CHROMagar Orientation plates	21
Figure 4.3: Representative agarose gel photos of clinical <i>P. aeruginosa</i> confirmed by PCR using the (a) PAL primers and (b) PA SS primers2	22
Figure 4.4: Representative agarose gel photos of presumptive environmental <i>P. aeruginosa</i> analysed by PCR using the (c) PAL primers and confirmed using the (d & e) PA SS primers	23
Figure 4.5: Representative photos of antibiotic susceptibility testing for <i>P. aeruginosa</i> on Mueller Hinton II plates using Kirby Bauer method2	27
Figure 4.6: Representative photos of minimum inhibitory concentration testing for <i>P. aeruginosa</i> using (a) ceftazidime, (b) cefepime, (c) imipenem and, (d) meropenem E test strips on Mueller Hinton II agar	28
Figure 4.7: Representative agarose gel photo of PCR amplified <i>bla</i> _{GES} products	\$2
Figure 4.8: Representative agarose gel photo of PCR amplified <i>bla</i> _{IMP} and <i>bla</i> _{VIM} products	32
Figure 4.9: Representative gel agarose photo of PCR amplified products for class 1 integron-encoded integrase, <i>intI1</i>	3
Figure 4.10: Representative gel agarose photo of PCR amplified products for class 1 integron	34
Figure 4.11: Representative PFGE agarose gel for Spel-digested P. aeruginosa	\$5
Figure 4.12: Dendrogram for clinical strains of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> based on <i>Spe</i> I digestion	6
Figure 4.13: Dendrogram for environmental strains of <i>P. aeruginosa</i> based on <i>Spe</i> I digestion	59
Figure 4.14: The eBURST v3 generated diagram of the Malaysian STs4	1
Figure 4.15: Composite image of the BURST groups displaying the lineages of Malaysian STs compared to the international STs from the <i>P. aeruginosa</i> PubMLST database	12

Figure 4.16: Bootstrap cladogram of clinical <i>P. aeruginosa</i> MLST sequence types	
(ST) based on Maximum Likelihood method (Tamura-Nei model) in	
comparison with PFGE clusters (PC)	45

Figure 4.17: Bootstrap cladogram of environmental P. aeruginosa MLST sequence	
types (ST) based on Maximum Likelihood method (Tamura-Nei	
model) in comparison with PFGE clusters (PC).	.46

University chalays

LIST OF TABLES

Fable 4.1: Specimen types and sources of clinical P. aeruginosa strains studied	.24
Table 4.2: Environmental sources of P. aeruginosa strains studied.	.25
Γable 4.3: Antibiotic susceptibility rates of clinical P. aeruginosa by Kirby Bauer method.	.27
Fable 4.4: Minimum inhibitory concentration results for cephalosporins, ceftazidime (CAZ) and cefepime (FEP).	.29
Table 4.5: Minimum inhibitory concentration results for carbapenems, imipenem (IPM) and meropenem (MEM).	.29
Γable 4.6: Gene cassette contents of class 1 integrons, extra-integron resistance genes and resistant phenotypes of <i>intI</i> 1-bearing <i>P. aeruginosa</i> from a Malaysian tertiary hospital.	.31
Fable 4.7: Sequence types and allelic profiles of representative clinical and environmental P. aeruginosa strains	.40

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

3'-CS	:	3' conserved segment
5'-CS	:	5' conserved segment
2	:	Equivalent or greater than
<	:	Less than
0⁄0	:	Percent
AST	:	Antibiotic susceptibility test/testing
bp	:	base pairs
BURST	:	Based upon related sequence types
CAO	:	CHROMagar Orientation
CF	:	Cystic fibrosis
CHEF	:	Contour-clamped homogenous fields
DNA	:	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ESBL	:	Extended-spectrum beta-lactam/lactamase
et al.	:	et alibi
MDRPA	÷	Multidrug resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa
MIC	÷	Minimum inhibitory concentration
ML	:	Maximum likelihood
MLST	:	Multilocus sequence typing
P. aeruginosa	:	Pseudomonas aeruginosa
PCR	:	Polymerase chain reaction
PFGE	:	Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis
ST	:	Sequence type
USA	:	United States of America

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: Clinical strain information	65
APPENDIX B: Environmental strain information	76
APPENDIX C: Agar media, solutions and buffers	78
APPENDIX D: Primers	80
APPENDIX E: Antibiogram for clinical and environmental <i>P. aeruginosa</i> from a tertiary hospital in Selangor	86
APPENDIX F: Gel agarose photos	92
APPENDIX G: BLAST-N search result For DNA sequence of the amplified <i>bla</i> _{GES-20} gene from PAC06 and PAC08	108
APPENDIX H: BLAST-N search result for DNA sequence of the amplified <i>bla</i> _{VIM-11} gene from PAC36, PAC138, PAC148 and PAC200	109
APPENDIX I: BLAST-N search result for DNA sequence of the amplified <i>bla</i> _{VIM-2} gene from PAC45 and PAC51	110
APPENDIX J: BLAST-N search result for DNA sequence of the amplified <i>bla</i> _{IMP-4} gene from PAC45, PAC51 and PAC96	111
APPENDIX K: BLAST-N search result for DNA sequence of the amplified <i>intI</i> 1 gene	112
APPENDIX L: BLAST-N search result for DNA sequence of the amplified conserved segment region in PAC06 and PAC08 integron class 1 gene cassette	113
APPENDIX M: BLAST-N search result for DNA sequence of the amplified conserved segment region in PAC138 and PAC148 integron class 1 gene cassette.	115
APPENDIX N: BLAST-N search result for DNA sequence of the amplified conserved segment region in PAC36 integron class 1 gene cassette	119
APPENDIX O: BLAST-N search result for DNA sequence of the amplified conserved segment region in PAC200 integron class 1 gene cassette	122
APPENDIX P: BLAST-N search result for DNA sequence of the amplified conserved segment region in PAC45, PAC51, PAC96, PAC99, and PAC17 integron class 1 gene cassette	124

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Pseudomonas aeruginosa, an ubiquitous aerobic Gram negative bacillus, is inherently resistant to many antimicrobial agents and tolerant to disinfectants (Deplano et al., 2005). It has been implicated in severe nosocomial infections such as bacteraemia, pneumonia, post-surgical infections and urinary tract infections among immunocompromised patients (United States of America, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; Lister et al., 2009). The extraordinary ability of the pathogen to acquire resistance to multiple classes of antimicrobial agents through mobile genetic elements or chromosomal mutations poses a serious therapeutic challenge in treating both community and nosocomial acquired infections (Glupczynski et al., 2010; Livermore, 2002). Infections associated with the drug resistant *P. aeruginosa* significantly increase surgical intervention rates, duration of hospitalization, treatment costs, and mortality and morbidity rates, thus adversely affecting overall patient outcomes (Lister et al., 2009).

In the USA, an estimated 51,000 *P. aeruginosa* infections were reported every year and 13% of these were caused by multidrug resistant (MDRPA) strains (United States of America, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). MDRPA are resistant to ≥ 1 antimicrobial agent from ≥ 3 antimicrobial classes according to Magiorakos et al. (2012) and classified as a serious threat by the United States of America, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. In Malaysia, the antimicrobial resistance rates and emergence of MDRPA-associated clinical infections were previously reported. Raja and Singh (2007) reported the resistance rates of *P. aeruginosa* to ceftazidime, cefepime, imipenem, and meropenem as 10.9%, 38.9%, 9.9 %, and 36.8%, respectively while Pathmanathan et al. (2009) reported 19.6%, 19.6%, 20.6%, and 22.7% resistance to the same antimicrobials. Incidences of MDRPA in Malaysian were varied at 5.7% in 2006, 69% in 2008, and 19.6% in 2009 based on studies by Raja et al. (2007), Lim et al. (2009) and Pathmanathan et al. (2009), respectively. Since then, there has been no update on the MDRPA incidences in Malaysia.

Genotypic characterisation of Malaysian *P. aeruginosa* strains has also been previously reported. Lim et al. (2009) showed that the clinical strains from six public hospitals in six different states in Malaysia were diverse and heterogeneous. Besides that, high levels of broad spectrum antimicrobial resistance conferred by metallo-beta-lactamase-encoding genes such as *bla*_{IMP-7}, *bla*_{IMP-4}, *bla*_{VIM-2}, and *bla*_{VIM-11} as well as gene cassette-bearing class 1 and class 2 integrons were detected among Malaysian strains.(Ho et al., 2002; Khosravi et al., 2010; Khosravi et al., 2011; Lim et al., 2009). However, the multilocus sequence typing (MLST) of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL)- and carbapenemase-producing clinical *P. aeruginosa* has not been reported in Malaysia. The data generated would be useful to elucidate the genotypes of the Malaysian drug resistant *P. aeruginosa* strains in relation to previously reported international drug resistant STs.

The majority of reports from Malaysia were focused on clinical strains but there are few reports on environmental strains from hospital sources. It is important to know the exogenous sources of *P. aeruginosa* in the hospital and to characterize those isolated strains for better understanding of their antibiotic susceptibility profiles and genotypes. The combined data from the clinical and environmental strains would be useful to the hospital infection control teams in their on-going surveillance measures.

1.1 Research objectives

The aims of this study were:

- To determine the distribution and prevalence of clinical and environmental
 P. aeruginosa in a Malaysian tertiary care hospital.
- ii. To determine the antibiotic susceptibility profiles of *P. aeruginosa* from clinical specimens and environmental sources.

- iii. To determine the presence of ESBL- and carbapenemase- encoding genes harboured by drug resistant *P. aeruginosa*.
- iv. To determine the genetic diversity of the clinical and environmental *P. aeruginosa* in the tertiary hospital by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) and multilocus sequence typing (MLST).

university

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Clinical significance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*

P. aeruginosa has long been associated with infectious diseases in humans. The organism was first described by C. E. Sédillot who observed the bluish-green colour of surgical dressings, and was later described with greater detail by Fordos, Lucke, and Gessard in the 1800's (Lister et al., 2009). The bacteria is a Gram negative, rod shaped, obligate aerobe, found in humans, animals, plants, soil, water and the inanimate objects. The ubiquitous and versatile nature of the bacteria is enabled by its auxotrophic characteristic and well-coordinated gene regulation and expression, requiring minimal nutrients for survival (Gooderham & Hancock, 2009; Kelsey, 2013).

P. aeruginosa is responsible for a wide array of clinical manifestations in humans, ranging from asymptomatic carriage in the respiratory tract, urinary tract, and skin to fatal disease (Hauser & Rello, 2003). The bacterium is the main cause of chronic pulmonary infections and has been implicated in various infections such as bacteremia, ventilator-associated pneumonia, urinary tract infections, burn wound infections, catheter-related infections and post-surgery wound infections (United States of America, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; Keen et al., 2010). The pathogen is also frequently associated with cystic fibrosis (CF) lung disease and causes irreversible damage to the tissues in the lung of patients (Mathee et al., 1999). Moreover, the immunocompromised status of patients make them extremely susceptible to *P. aeruginosa* infections. (Gooderham & Hancock, 2009). The severity of the infection is determined by the type and condition of the infected or colonized host, the route of infection, and the presence of indwelling medical devices in a host (Hauser & Rello, 2003).

The incidence of *P. aeruginosa* infections globally have been reported. A population based study conducted by Parkins et al. (2010) in a large Calgary health region showed

that the overall mortality rate associated with *P. aeruginosa* infection was 29.0% (n = 284). Of that total, 45.0% were nosocomial acquisitions, 34.0% were healthcareassociated community onsets, and 21.0% were community acquisitions (Parkins et al., 2010). An estimated 400 deaths and 51,000 healthcare acquired infections attributed to *P. aeruginosa* were reported by the United States of America, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2013). A study conducted at a university hospital in Northern Thailand showed that the rate of ventilator-associated pneumonia caused by the pathogen was 16.7% while the mortality rate was 16.0% (Chittawatanarat et al., 2014). Abu et al. (2016) reported 2.7% of blood cultures which were positive for *P. aeruginosa* among community-acquired bacteraemia in paediatric patients from a tertiary hospital in Malaysia. There is a lack of targeted studies to determine the mortality and morbidity rates due to *P. aeruginosa* infections from Malaysia which made it difficult to assess the true situation in this country.

2.2 Environmental reservoirs of *P. aeruginosa*

P. aeruginosa is ubiquitous and found to inhabit natural and man-made environments. The presence of *P. aeruginosa* in hospitals is of particular concern because of the inherent and acquired antimicrobial resistance of the pathogen which adversely affect patients' outcomes. In addition, the presence of *P. aeruginosa* in intensive care units is a common and persistent problem in many different countries and one of the most frequently isolated pathogens in hospital outbreaks (Hauser & Rello, 2003). *P. aeruginosa* is successful in colonizing hospital environments because its nutritional requirements are very minimal and the large genome of the pathogen encoding for various virulence factors, resistance genes, and regulatory mechanisms is the key for survival in hospital environments (Gooderham & Hancock, 2009; Kipnis et al., 2006; Wolfgang et al., 2003). Previous reports showed that *P. aeruginosa* was cultured from the handwashing sinks of the ICU, mops, betadine, ventilators, indwelling catheters, aerosols, sink taps and water

distribution systems in the hospital (Hauser & Rello, 2003; Kelsey, 2013). Once the organism is established in biofilms in the hospital environment, complete eradication is difficult because of their highly robust and sturdy biophysical properties against chemical treatments (Kelsey, 2013; Lieleg et al., 2011).

The presence of *P. aeruginosa* on fomites and inanimate objects in the hospital indicates that there is a potential for contamination of sterile medical goods and cross infections among patients resulting in nosocomial infections. Suraiya et al. (2008) reported that *P. aeruginosa* isolated from fentanyl, morphine and water used for medication dilution was the causative agent of an outbreak in an ICU of a tertiary teaching hospital in Malaysia. Sekiguchi et al. (2007) reported outbreaks of a multidrug resistant *P. aeruginosa* clone from community hospitals in Japan which were linked to urinary catheters. An outbreak of *P. aeruginosa* among patients which were associated with flexible bronchoscopes was reported by Mackie et al. (2003). Hence, the role of the hospital environment as a reservoir for *P. aeruginosa* nosocomial infections cannot be downplayed and warrants further investigation to inform and guide hospital infection control management.

2.3 Emergence and development of *P. aeruginosa* antimicrobial resistance

P. aeruginosa is intrinsically resistant to ampicillin, ampicillin-sulbactam, amoxicillin-clavulanate, cefotaxime, ceftriaxone, ertapenem, tetracyclines, trimethoprim, trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, chloramphenicol and fosfomycin (Patel et al., 2014). The intrinsic resistance of the organism is attributed to the derepression of chromosomal AmpC β -lactamase, up-regulation of the MexAB-OprM efflux pump system, mutations to topoisomerases II and IV, and loss of OprD porins (Livermore, 2002). However, acquired antimicrobial resistance is of greater concern because of the rapid dissemination

of resistance genes borne on mobile genetic elements such as plasmids or integrons (Livermore, 2002).

An international expert group which proposed standardized definitions for acquired antimicrobial resistance defined multidrug resistance as an isolate which is non-susceptible to at least one agent in \geq 3 antimicrobial categories (Magiorakos et al., 2012). The United States of America, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention reported that multidrug resistant *P. aeruginosa* (MDRPA) is a serious threat attributing to an estimated 6,700 infections a year in the US (United States of America, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). The report further elaborates that about 13.0% of severe nosocomial infections were caused by MDRPA which means that many classes of antipseudomonal drugs of choice such as cephalosporins, aminoglycosides, fluoroquinolones and carbapenems are no longer effective.

The first mention of acquired resistance among *P. aeruginosa* was in a treatment failure using imipenem by Quinn et al. (1986). Since then, numerous international reports of acquired resistance were published. For example, various *P. aeruginosa* beta-lactamases classes and subtypes from Italy (Pagani et al., 2004), Korea (S. Lee et al., 2005), China (Jiang et al., 2006), France (Brasme et al., 2007), and the UK (Woodford et al., 2008) were reported. In addition, various *P. aeruginosa* carbapenemases classes and subtypes from France (Naas et al., 1999), Malaysia (Ho et al., 2002), Greece (Pournaras et al., 2003), Columbia (Crespo et al., 2004), and Korea (Lee et al., 2013) were reported. The rapid development of scientific technologies such as DNA sequencing of specific resistance genes, opened the way for further characterisation of the resistance genes in *P. aeruginosa*.

2.4 Mechanisms and genes of resistance

There are many mechanisms and resistance genes utilized by *P. aeruginosa* for adaptability and survivability. However, the extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL) and carbapenemase encoded genes were the main focus in this study as the enzymes produced by those genes inactivate the drugs of choice used for the treatment of invasive and severe *P. aeruginosa* infections in Malaysia (Pharmaceutical Services Division, 2014).

2.4.1 Extended-spectrum beta-lactamase

The extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL) has been widely reported among the Enterobacteriaceae group since the early 1980s but was only reported in *P. aeruginosa* since 1993 (Weldhagen et al., 2003). The majority of the ESBLs belong to the Ambler class A scheme and confer resistance to narrow-spectrum penicillins, extended-spectrum cephalosporins, and aztreonam (Weldhagen et al., 2003). The hydrolyzing actions of the class A ESBLs utilizes an active site serine for the formation of an acyl enzyme (Bush & Jacoby, 2010). The TEM, SHV, CTX-M, PER, PSE, and GES enzymes are some examples of the ESBLs which have been previously described (Bush & Jacoby, 2010).

In 1993, the first ESBL, PER-1, from *P. aeruginosa* isolated from a Turkish patient in France was characterized and reported (Naas et al., 1999; Weldhagen et al., 2003). Subsequently, the VEB (from France, Kuwait, India, China and Thailand), PER (from France, Turkey, Italy and Belgium), SHV (from France, Poland, Greece, and Thailand), TEM (from France), GES (from France and South Africa), and IBC (from Greece) were characterized and described (Weldhagen et al., 2003). This implies that there is a global dissemination of ESBLs-encoding genes in *P. aeruginosa*. However, to date, there was only one report of ESBL-producing *P. aeruginosa* (OXA-10) from Malaysia by Lim et al. (2009).

2.4.2 Carbapenemase

The carbapenemase enzymes, or also known as metalloenzymes, are classified as Ambler class B and hydrolyze beta-lactams by utilizing at least one active-site zinc ion (Bush & Jacoby, 2010). The members of the Amber class B isolated from *P. aeruginosa* include IMP, VIM, SPM, AIM, GIM, NDM, SIM and DIM (Bush & Jacoby, 2010; Poirel et al., 2011). These enzymes have poor hydrolytic active against monobactams, but are not inhibited by tazobactams and clavulanate (Bush & Jacoby, 2010).

There are various reports of carbapenemase subtypes such as IMP-4 (Khosravi et al., 2010), IMP-7 (Ho et al., 2002), IMP-9 (Lim et al., 2009), IMP-26 (Koh et al., 2010), VIM-1 (Giske et al., 2006), VIM-2 (Lee et al., 2002; Poirel et al., 2001; Pournaras et al., 2003), VIM-4 (Pournaras et al., 2003), VIM-8 (Crespo et al., 2004), VIM-11 (Khosravi et al., 2010). The reports originated from countries such as France, Columbia, Singapore, Korea, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Sweden and Malaysia, which suggests a global dissemination of these resistance genes on mobile genetic elements via horizontal gene transfer (Davies & Davies, 2010; Poirel et al., 2009).

2.4.3 Class 1 and 2 integrons

Integrons are genetic elements that exist in the majority of Gram negative bacteria, which are popularly known for their roles in antimicrobial resistance gene dispersion, acquisition and expression (Gillings, 2014). The structure of all integrons consists of an integron integrase-encoding gene (*IntI*), an integron-associated recombinant site (*attI*), and an integron-associated promoter (Pc) (Deng et al., 2015; Gillings, 2014). The function of the integron integrase (IntI), a member of the tyrosine recombinase family, is to catalyse the recombination of an in-coming gene cassette to the integron-associated recombinant site (*attI*) (Deng et al., 2015; Gillings, 2014). The integron-associated recombinant site (*attI*) (Deng et al., 2015; Gillings, 2014).

promoter (Pc) then expresses the exogenously acquired genes as part of the gene cassettes (Gillings, 2014).

The most common mechanism of plasmid-mediated resistance gene transmission is the horizontal gene transfer mechanism (Davies & Davies, 2010). Integrons located on plasmids can be easily transferred via bacterial conjugation which result in rapid dispersion of the resistance genes among bacterial species (Davies & Davies, 2010). However, Stokes et al. (2012) recently reported that all the class 1 integron from clinical *P. aeruginosa* from two continents were located on chromosomes. Stokes et al. (2012) surmised that the chromosomally located integrons have the capability to be transmitted via horizontal gene transfer although the exact mechanism is still unclear. Therefore, the class 1 integron located on the chromosome in *P. aeruginosa* is the major form of the global spread of resistance genes rather than those located on the plasmids (Stokes et al., 2012; Wright et al., 2015).

The class 1 integron is the most commonly found and reported class of integron, followed by the class 2 integron among the Gram negative bacteria (Deng et al., 2015). Numerous studies described the class 1 integron in *P. aeruginosa* as gene cassettes which encoded for antimicrobial resistance. For example, Wright et al. (2015) reported 119 strains with metallo beta-lactamase-encoding, *bla*_{IMP} and *bla*_{VIM} genes, contained in the class 1 integrons. Simultaneous detection of the *bla*_{IMP} and *bla*_{VIM} genes located in gene cassettes on the class 1 integron was also described by Toval et al. (2015). Khosravi et al. (2011) were the first to report their findings of the class 2 integrons in *P. aeruginosa*. However, the class 2 integrons found in their study did not contain any genes of resistance while four and 10 of the class 1 integrons contained the *bla*_{IMP} and *bla*_{VIM} genes, respectively (Khosravi et al., 2011). In addition, Lim et al. (2009) described one strain possessing the class 1 integron which contained the *aacA4-bla*_{IMP}-9-*catB8-bla*_{OXA-10} gene

cassette, where the OXA-10 is an ESBL subtype. Hence, there are varied combinations of resistance genes located within an integron with some simultaneously bearing metallo beta-lactamase- and ESBL-encoding genes.

2.5 Molecular subtyping of *P. aeruginosa*

The main aim of pathogen typing is to determine the genetic relatedness of a pathogen species isolated from a particular epidemiological event. This investigation is usually triggered by a sudden increase of infections involving a particular pathogen, a particular group of infected patients or when there are distinctive but unusual antimicrobial susceptibility patterns (Singh et al., 2006).

Subtyping is defined as characterisation below the species and sub-species levels and both phenotypic and genotypic methods are widely used on bacterial pathogens (Barrett et al., 2006). Commonly used phenotyping methods such as biotyping, serotyping, bacteriophage typing, bacteriocin typing, and antimicrobial resistance profiling have been used for comparison of phenotypic characteristics of strains in epidemiological investigations (Barrett et al., 2006; Singh et al., 2006).

Over the past three decades, DNA-based molecular methodologies began to replace the phenotypic approach in epidemiological investigations because the molecular approach was better at determining the genetic basis of strain interrelationships (Singh et al., 2006). Molecular techniques such as plasmid profiling, restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), multilocus sequence typing (MLST), enterobacterial repetitive intergenic consensus sequences (ERIC) PCR, repetitive extragenic palindromic sequences (REP) PCR, variable-number tandem repeat (VNTR) PCR, and so forth have been developed and utilized in many studies (Foxman & Riley, 2001; Sabat et al., 2013). For the purpose of this study, two standardized, highly discriminative, and widely used molecular techniques, PFGE and MLST, were performed.

2.5.1 Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis

Of all the various types of DNA-based subtyping methods, PFGE was considered as the 'gold standard' for bacterial subtyping for several reasons. The macrorestriction analysis by PFGE was found have high discriminatory powers, broad applicability, high intra- and interlaboratory reproducibility, epidemiologic concordance, and the ability to separate large DNA fragments (1000 kbp) from small fragments (50 kbp) (Barrett et al., 2006; Hunter et al., 2005; Stemper et al., 2011). Developed by Schwartz and Cantor, the method was improved by utilizing the contour-clamped homogeneous electric field (CHEF) system that alternates the switching of electrical currents at 120° angles to separate the large DNA fragments from the smaller fragments (Stemper et al., 2011). The protocols for PFGE are standardized as a result of the PulseNet (the National Molecular Subtyping Network for Foodborne Disease Surveillance) programme coordinated by the US CDC since 1996, for the subtyping of foodborne pathogens (Hunter et al., 2005; Sabat et al., 2013; Stemper et al., 2011). Apart from the foodborne bacterial pathogens, the PFGE protocols have also been slightly modified and used by many researchers to subtype P. aeruginosa by using the SpeI restriction endonuclease (Glupczynski et al., 2010; Johnson et al., 2007; Kidd et al., 2011; Lim et al., 2009; Pournaras et al., 2003; Ranellou et al., 2012; Spencker et al., 2000; Suraiya et al., 2008).

However, there are several disadvantages of using the gel–based fingerprinting method such as Tris-dependent DNA degradation which can mislead into classifying strains as untypable (Evans et al., 1994; Koort et al., 2002; Römling & Tümmler, 2000). This problem is easily resolved by replacing the Tris electrophoresis buffer with 1X HEPES buffer or with the addition of 0.5µm Thiourea into the Tris buffer (Evans et al.,

1994; Koort et al., 2002; Römling & Tümmler, 2000). Another common problem with PFGE is the occurrence of incomplete DNA restriction resulting in artifacts or 'ghost bands' leading to false conclusions about pulsed-field profiles relationships (Barrett et al., 2006). To resolve this problem, optimisation of the methodologies should be carried out followed by repeated restriction and analysis of the strain (Barrett et al., 2006). The occurrence of point mutations, insertions and deletions which can add or lose fragments relative to the strains that did not undergo such genetic alterations, also lead to misinterpretation of the relationships between the pulse-field patterns (Barrett et al., 2006). To ensure that the right conclusions are obtained, the PFGE results must be interpreted within the proper context, taking into account epidemiologic and environmental investigations (Barrett et al., 2006).

2.5.2 Multilocus sequence typing

Multilocus sequence typing (MLST) was designed in 1998 primarily to overcome the problem of interlaboratory results portability which is faced by traditional molecular subtyping methods (Maiden et al., 1998). The MLST data is made freely available over the internet via the PubMLST database and other host databases to facilitate information sharing and standardized bacterial nomenclature (Maiden, 2006). Bacterial typing is performed by sequencing of seven housekeeping genes which are conserved and encode for proteins of fundamental metabolic functions (Maiden et al., 1998; Maiden, 2006). Arbitrary numbers are then assigned to the each of the MLST loci and the resulting allelic profile is assigned a sequence type number. For *P. aeruginosa*, the selected seven loci in the scheme are *acsA*, *aroE*, *guaA*, *mutL*, *nuoD*, *ppsA*, and *trpE* (Curran et al., 2004).

Since the development of the MLST scheme for *P. aeruginosa* by Curran et al. (2004), many researchers such as Giske et al. (2006), Johnson et al. (2007), Lim et al. (2009), Kidd et al. (2011), and Liakopoulos et al. (2013) have utilized this methodology for pathogen subtyping in epidemiological investigations. Furthermore, Giske et al. (2006), Johnson et al. (2007) and Kidd et al. (2011) have simultaneously analysed their *P. aeruginosa* strains with PFGE and have concurred that both methods have high discriminatory ability, but do not share 100% concordance because the methods differ in their analysis of genetic variations. The superiority of MLST over PFGE, is the determination of *P. aeruginosa* international lineages and high risk drug resistant clones such as ST111, ST235, ST274, ST357, and ST654 which cannot achieved by using PFGE (Fernández-Olmos et al., 2013; Liakopoulos et al., 2013; Wright et al., 2015).

CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY

3.1 *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains collection

3.1.1 Clinical strains collection and identification

A retrospective study of clinical *P. aeruginosa* was conducted in a 562-bedded tertiary hospital in Selangor, Malaysia. From April to November 2014, one hundred and ninetynine consecutive and non-replicate *P. aeruginosa* strains were obtained from the microbiology laboratory of the hospital. The strains were identified by basic biochemical tests and API20NE (bioMérieux, France). In addition, the information of the strains background such as specimen type, site of infection, locations or wards in the hospital, and the dates of culture and sensitivity testing were recorded (Appendix A). These strains were inoculated into Luria-Bertani agar stabs and labelled with a PAC prefix followed by consecutive numbering. The strains were then transported to the research laboratory in the University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, for further investigation and cryo-preserved at -80°C in 50% glycerol. All agar media, solutions and buffers used in this study are detailed in Appendix C.

The strains were confirmed by PCR using primers PAL1. 5'-ATGGAAATGCTGAAATTCGGC-3' and PAL2, 5'-CTTCTTCAGCTCGA CGCGACG-3', which targeted the oprL gene (De Vos et al., 1997). Extracted DNA from a simple boiling method (Alexopoulou et al., 2006) was used for PCR. Additional confirmation performed PA SS-F. 5'using primers was GGGGGATCTTCGGACCTCA-3' and PA SS-R, 5'- TCCTTAGAGTGCCCACCCG-3', which targeted the 16S rDNA variable regions 2 (V2) and regions 8 (V8) (Spilker et al., 2004) respectively. These primers were found to be more specific in identifying and differentiating P. aeruginosa from other Pseudomonas species. P. aeruginosa ATCC 27853 was used as the positive control while ultrapure H₂O was used as the negative control. The primers used in this study (Integrated DNA Technologies, Singapore) are

detailed in Appendix D while the reagents used for PCR are the Promega Go Taq® Green Master Mix (Promega, USA).

3.1.2 Environmental strains collection

A total of 358 environmental samples were collected from the tertiary hospital including the Intensive Care Unit (ICU), Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU), surgical, medical, gynaecology, and haematology wards from January to February 2015. These locations were identified to be potential reservoirs of MDRPA strains. MDR is defined as resistant to ≥ 1 antibiotics from ≥ 3 antibiotic groups (Magiorakos et al., 2012). The samples were categorized into patients' immediate surroundings (e.g., bed rails, food table surface, mattress surface, curtains), medical equipment (e.g., defibrillator handles, infusion pump keys, medication trolley surface), healthcare workers' hands, sinks and drain surface from wards, toilets and pantry, frequently touched surfaces (e.g., laptop keys, light and fan switches, counter tops), and solutions or fluids (e.g., sterile NaCl 0.9% for drug dilution, povidone iodine, hand rub solutions). Samples taken from levelled and even surfaces were swabbed using Transwab with Amies Charcoal Medium (Medical Wire, UK), moistened with sterile 0.85% NaCl, at approximately 15 cm² at right angles for 1 minute (Lerner et al., 2013). Uneven or protruding surfaces (e.g., bedrails, tubing, respirators) were swabbed generously to obtain a large surface area. Approximately 5 to 10 ml of solutions or fluids were collected in 15 ml pre-sterilized centrifuge tubes (Axygen, USA) and sealed with parafilm. These were then labelled according to the sampling site and location (Appendix B) and placed in a chilled transport container for transportation to the research laboratory for immediate processing.

The swab samples were directly inoculated onto CHROMagar Orientation (CAO), (BD, USA), and incubated overnight at 37°C. Solutions or fluids were centrifuged at 10,000 X g for 10 min, then the pellets were inoculated on CAO and incubated overnight

at 37°C. Presumptive *P. aeruginosa* colonies (labelled with PPAE prefix), which are typically creamy, transparent greenish to yellowish rough-edged colonies, were isolated based on the CAO colour morphotypes differentiation guide (BD, USA) followed by the oxidase test to eliminate the oxidase negative isolates.

Oxidase positive isolates were identified using API 20NE, (bioMérieux, France) and confirmed using PCR as previously described for the clinical strains. *P. aeruginosa* ATCC 27853 was used as the positive control while *Escherichia coli* ATCC 35218 was the negative control for the API 20NE tests. The PAE prefix was used to relabel the confirmed *P. aeruginosa*, and these were cryo-preserved at -80°C in 50% glycerol.

3.1.3 Antibiotic susceptibility testing

3.1.3.1 Kirby Bauer method

All *P. aeruginosa* strains were tested for susceptibility to amikacin (AMK), ceftazidime (CAZ), cefepime (FEP), ciprofloxacin (CIP), gentamicin (GEN), imipenem (IPM), meropenem (MEM), polymyxin B (PMB), and piperacillin/tazobactam (TZP), (BBL, BD, USA) according to CLSI Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (Patel et al., 2014). *P. aeruginosa* ATCC 27853 and *Escherichia coli* ATCC 35218 were used as positive and negative controls, respectively.

3.1.3.2 Minimum inhibitory concentration method

The CAZ, FEP, IPM, and MEM minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) E test strips (bioMérieux, France) were used to determine cephalosporin and carbapenem resistance levels among resistant strains. Performance and interpretation of the MIC results were also performed according to CLSI standards (Patel et al., 2014).

3.1.4 Detection of ESBL and carbapenem resistant genes

The detection of selected ESBL (*bla*_{TEM}, *bla*_{SHV}, *bla*_{OXA-1} like, *bla*_{CTXM} for phylogenetic group 1, 2 and 9, *bla*_{CTXM-8/-25}, *bla*_{VEB}, *bla*_{PER}, and *bla*_{GES}) and carbapenemase genes (*bla*_{IMP}, *bla*_{VIM}, *bla*_{SPM}, *bla*_{KPC}, *bla*_{NDM}, *bla*_{AIM}, *bla*_{GIM}, and *bla*_{SIM}) was performed on all strains using multiplex PCR with primers and conditions as previously described (Dallenne et al., 2010; Poirel et al., 2011). The amplicons were purified and submitted to a commercial company for sequencing to validate the results. The resulting nucleotide sequences were aligned to reference sequences in the NCBI BLAST-n database (<u>https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi</u>).

The positive control strains, *Klebsiella pneumoniae* strain KPC06 and *K. pneumoniae* ATCC BAA-1705, were used as reference for bla_{TEM} , bla_{SHV} , and $bla_{\text{CTXM}-1}$, and bla_{KPC} respectively. PCR amplicons for bla_{GES} , bla_{IMP} , and bla_{VIM} were sequenced to validate the products and the strains with these confirmed genes were used as positive controls in subsequent multiplex PCR tests. Ultrapure H₂O was used as the negative control for all multiplex PCR runs. Positive controls were unavailable for $bla_{\text{OXA-1}}$ like, bla_{CTXM} phylogenetic group 2 and 9, $bla_{\text{CTXM-8/-25}}$, bla_{VEB} , bla_{PER} , bla_{SPM} , bla_{NDM} , bla_{AIM} , bla_{GIM} and bla_{SIM} . Therefore, negative results were treated with caution.

3.1.5 Class 1 and 2 integron detection and gene cassette determination

Strains which were resistant to any class of antimicrobial agents were subjected to PCR detection of class 1 and 2 integron-encoded integrases, *intl1* and *intl2*, according to established protocols (Machado et al., 2005). The 5'CS/3'CS and attI2-orfX region primer pairs were used to amplify the integron variable region of the class 1 and class 2 integrons, respectively (Machado et al., 2005). Subsequent sequencing of the integron variable region to confirm the presence and content of gene cassette insertions was also performed.

3.1.6 **PFGE**

PFGE was conducted on all strains according to established protocols (Lim et al., 2009) with minor modifications using CHEF MAPPER (Bio Rad, Hercules, CA). Briefly, *Spe*I-restricted DNA plugs were electrophoresed for 23 hours with pulse times of 1 s and 40 s, at 6 Vcm⁻¹. *Xba*I-digested *Salmonella* serotype Braenderup H9812 was used as the DNA size marker (Hunter et al., 2005). Both restriction enzymes used were from Promega, USA. For strains that could not be typed because of Tris-dependent DNA degradation, the electrophoresis was repeated with 1 X HEPES as the electrophoresis buffer (Koort et al., 2002). The gels were visualized in Gel Doc XR (Bio-Rad Laboratories, CA, USA) after staining with GelRed (Biotium, CA, USA). The reagents used for PFGE are detailed in Appendix C. The similarity indices of the PFGE fingerprints were calculated with Dice co-efficient at 1.0% optimization and 1.5% tolerance while clustering was done using unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA) algorithm in the BioNumerics 7 software (Applied Maths, bioMérieux, Belgium).

3.1.7 MLST

Thirty-two clinical and six environmental strains were selected for MLST, based on the PFGE analyses: (i) indistinguishable pulsotypes (n = 10), (ii) pulsotypes with \geq 85% genetic similarity (n = 6), (iii) pulsotypes with \leq 85% genetic similarity (n = 4) and (iv) the MDRPA strains (n = 9). The primers and cycling conditions used were obtained from the MLST webpage (<u>http://pubmlst.org/paeruginosa/</u>) and published procedures (Curran et al., 2004).

eBURST v3 (<u>http://eburst.mlst.net/</u>) analysis using the most stringent definition, where the sequence types (STs) were identical or shared at least 6/7 alleles, were used to detect clonal complexes or BURST groups (BG) among the STs in this study (n = 29) and the *P. aeruginosa* PubMLST database (n = 5265, <u>http://pubmlst.org/paeruginosa/</u>) (Feil et al, 2004). The STs were then classified as BG founders, single locus variants (SLVs), double locus variants (DLVs), or singletons (Spratt et al., 2004)

The nucleotide sequences of the STs were aligned to reference sequences from the *P. aeruginosa* PubMLST database using MUSCLE (MEGA7) (Kumar et al., 2016) and concatenated with Sequence Matrix 1.8. In order to estimate the distances between the sequences, the Maximum Likelihood (ML) method based on the Tamura-Nei model was utilized (Tamura & Nei, 1993). The tree topology was determined by neighbour-joining method and the final phylogenetic tree was rooted using *Acinetobacter* spp. as the outgroup (Hall & Barlow, 2006).

The BGs and ML tree were assessed using 2000 bootstrap replicates and bootstrap percentages \geq 70% were considered to be reliable (Hall, 2013).
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

4.1 Strains identification

4.1.1 Biochemical testing results

Biochemical identification using API 20NE identified all 199 clinical strains as *P. aeruginosa* (Figure 4.1). Out of the 358 environmental samples, 29 *P. aeruginosa* strains from 23 samples were also isolated and identified. Examples of the environmental samples cultured on CHROMagar Orientation media are shown in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.1: A representative photo of biochemical reactions for *P. aeruginosa* identification using an API 20NE test kit. Positive biochemical reactions are indicated with colour changes for the ADH (pink), URE (orange), and GEL (black) tests while the positive results for assimilation of substrates such as GLU, MAN, NAG, GNT, CAP, ADI, MLT, and CIT are visualized as opaque or turbid.



Figure 4.2: Environmental isolates cultured on CHROMagar Orientation plates. Presumptive *P. aeruginosa* morphotypes are transparent, yellowish to greenish rough-edged colonies (indicated by the red arrows). The other presumptive morphotypes such as *Enterobacter* spp. (deep blue with violet halos), *Enterococcus* spp. (small, blue-green to blue), and *Escherichia coli* (large, dark rose to pink) colonies are also seen.

4.1.2 Confirmation of strain identity by PCR

All 199 clinical strains were confirmed to be *P. aeruginosa* by PCR using the PAL and PA SS primer pairs which yielded 504 bp and 956 bp products, respectively (Figure 4.3). Of the 170 oxidase positive environmental strains, 40 were positive for the *oprL* gene and only 29 strains were positive for 16S rDNA variable regions 2 and 8 genes; implying that only 29 strains were confirmed to be *P. aeruginosa* while the rest were *Pseudomonas* spp. The results obtained using the PA SS primer pairs were concordant with the results from the API 20NE biochemical tests. Therefore, the final confirmation of the strains identities were based on the PCR using the PA SS primers which were more specific in the detection of true *P. aeruginosa* (Figure 4.4).







Figure 4.4: A montage of representative agarose gel photos of presumptive environmental *P. aeruginosa* analysed by PCR using the (c) PAL primers and confirmed using the (d & e) PA SS primers. Compared to the PAL primers, the PA SS primers were more specific in detecting true *P. aeruginosa* (missing bands are indicated by the red arrows in (d) and (e)). (c) Lanes 1 and 17: 100bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lane 2: Positive control. Lane 3: Negative control. Lanes 4 to 16: Presumptive *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos). (d) Lane 1: 100bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lane 2: Positive control. Lane 3: Negative control. Lanes 4 to 6: Presumptive *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos). (e) Lanes 1 and 17: 100bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lane 2: Positive control. Lane 3: Negative control. Lanes 4 to 6: Presumptive *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos). (e) Lanes 1 and 17: 100bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lane 4 to 16: Presumptive *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos). (e) Lanes 1 and 17: 100bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lane 4 to 16: Presumptive *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos). (e) Lanes 1 and 17: 100bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lane 4 to 16: Presumptive *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos). (e) Lanes 1 and 17: 100bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lane 4 to 16: Presumptive *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos). (e) Lanes 1 and 17: 100bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lane 4 to 16: Presumptive *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos). (e) Lanes 1 and 17: 100bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lane 4 to 16: Presumptive *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos).

4.2 Strain distribution and prevalence in the hospital

The 199 clinical *P. aeruginosa* strains were isolated from various sources obtained from different locations in the hospital (Table 4.1). The top three sources of clinical strains were sputum (25.6%), wound swab (16.6%), and tracheal aspirate (15.6%); the majority of which were isolated from patients in the medical wards (30.2%), surgical wards (16.6%), and the ICU (13.6%). Sixty-one percent (n = 122) and 39% (n = 77) of the clinical strains were from male and female patients, respectively. The detailed strain background information are found in Appendix A. Table 4.2 shows the sources of the 29 environmental *P. aeruginosa* strains from 10 different wards in the hospital. The majority of strains were isolated from sinks and drains located in the Surgical (31.0%), and Medical (24.1%) wards. The details of the environmental strains background are shown in Appendix B.

						S	pecimer	n types					
Locations/wards	Abscess / Pus	Blood	Bone	BAL/ NPA ^a	Catheter tip	Eyes/ Cornea	Sputum	Throat swab	Tissue	Tracheal aspirate	Urine	Wound swab	Total
Intensive Care Units		3			1		4			18		1	27
Haematology	3	9		1			1		2	2	1	2	21
Emergency		1				1							2
Ophthalmology						1							1
Obstetrics & Gynaecology	1	2					1				1	3	8
Otorhinolaryngology	2												2
General Medicine	4	3					37	1		3	8	4	60
Paediatrics	1	11		1		7			1	4		1	26
Orthopaedics	2		1				1		3		2	10	19
General Surgery	3					1	7		4	4	2	12	33
Number of specimens	16	29	1	2	1	10	51	1	10	31	14	33	199

Table 4.1: Specimen types and sources of clinical *P. aeruginosa* strains studied (Phoon et al., 2018). Reprinted permission granted by Mary Ann Liebert, Inc.

^aBAL/NPA = Bronchoalveolar lavage / nasopharyngeal aspirate

						Wards					
Sources	Surgical 1	Surgical 2	Surgical 3	Gynaecology	Medical 1	Medical 2	Medical 3	Haematology 1	Haematology 2	Haematology 3	Number of specimens
Sink & drain	2	3	4	1	2	4	2	1		1	20
Counter top and around sink surfaces	1		1					1	4		7
Patient mattress surface					2						2
Total	3	3	5	1	4	4	2	2	4	1	29

 Table 4.2: Environmental sources of P. aeruginosa strains studied.

4.3 Antibiotic susceptibility profiles

4.3.1 Kirby Bauer results

The susceptibility rates for clinical *P. aeruginosa* tested against all the antimicrobial agents in this study ranged from 88.4% (piperacillin/tazobactam and imipenem) to 100% (polymyxin B). All the strains tested were susceptible towards polymyxin B. The antimicrobial agents with the highest resistance rates were imipenem and meropenem (11.6%, n = 23), followed by piperacillin/tazobactam (8.0%, n = 16) and ceftazidime (7.0%, n = 14). All the environmental strains were susceptible to the antibiotics tested except for one strain, PAE22, which was resistant to imipenem and meropenem. This strain was subjected to MIC testing for confirmation of the carbapenem resistance. The antibiograms of all strains are listed in Appendix E and the representative antibiotic susceptibility plates are shown in Figure 4.5. The antibiotic susceptibility rates for the clinical strains are summarised in Table 4.3.

Among the 199 clinical strains, twelve MDRPA strains (6.0%) were isolated from ICU (n = 3), Surgical 1 (n = 1), Gynaecology (n = 2), Medical 1 (n = 3), Haematology 1 (n = 1), and Haematology 3 (n = 2) wards. The strains which were intermediate or resistant to ceftazidime (n = 20), cefepime (n = 14), imipenem (n = 26), and/or meropenem (n = 35) were further analysed by MIC testing.



Figure 4.5: Representative photos of antibiotic susceptibility testing for *P. aeruginosa* on Mueller Hinton II plates using Kirby Bauer method.

Antimicrobial	No. (%) of isolates								
agents ^a	Susceptible	Intermediate	Resistant						
~									
CAZ	180 (90.5)	5 (2.5)	14 (7.0)						
FEP	186 (93.5)	0 (0)	13 (6.5)						
TZP	176 (88.4)	7 (3.5)	16 (8.0)						
IPM	175 (88.4)	0 (0)	23 (11.6)						
MEM	173 (86.9)	3 (1.5)	23 (11.6)						
GEN	175 (93.1)	0(0)	13 (6.9)						
AMK	190 (95.5)	1 (0.5)	8 (4.0)						
NET	187 (94.0)	0(0)	12 (6.0)						
CIP	191 (96.0)	0 (0)	8 (4.0)						

Table 4.3 Antibiotic susceptibility rates of clinical *P. aeruginosa* by Kirby Bauer method

 (Phoon et al., 2018). Reprinted permission granted by Mary Ann Liebert, Inc.

^aCeftazidime (CAZ), Cefepime (FEP), Piperacillin/Tazobactam (TZP), Imipenem (IPM), Meropenem (MEM), Gentamicin (GEN), Amikacin (AMK), Netilmicin (NET), Ciprofloxacin (CIP), Polymyxin B (PMB)

0(0)

4.3.2 Minimum inhibitory concentration results

197 (100)

PMB

Figure 4.6 shows the representative pictures of minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) E test strips used in this study and Tables 4.4 and 4.5 summarize the MIC results for cephalosporins and carbapenems, respectively. Based on the MIC results, 13 of 20 (65.0%) clinical strains tested were confirmed to be resistant to ceftazidime, while 12 of

0(0)

14 strains (85.7%) were confirmed to be resistant to cefepime. Twenty three of 26 (88.5%) clinical strains tested strains were confirmed to be resistant to imipenem and 21 of 35 strains (60%) were confirmed to be resistant to meropenem. However, the environmental strain, PAE22, which was resistant to imipenem and meropenem by disk diffusion had MIC values of 3.0 mg/L (intermediate) for imipenem and 2.0 mg/L (sensitive) for meropenem. Hence, strain PAE22 was considered as a non-resistant strain.



Figure 4.6: Representative photos of minimum inhibitory concentration testing for *P. aeruginosa* using (a) ceftazidime, (b) cefepime, (c) imipenem and, (d) meropenem E test strips on Mueller Hinton II agar.

MIC (mg/L) ^a		CAZ	FEP		
	n	%	n	%	
256	11		4		
128	1		3		
96	0	65.0	1	85.7	
64	1		3		
48	0		1		
24	1		1		
16	4	25.0	0	7.1	
8	1		1		
1.5	1	10.0	0	7.1	
Total	20	100.0	14	100.0	

Table 4.4: Minimum inhibitory concentration results for cephalosporins, ceftazidime (CAZ) and cefepime (FEP).

^aMIC interpretive criteria for cephalosporins based on CLSI standards (Patel et al., 2014); Susceptible: ≤ 8 , Intermediate: 16, Resistant: ≥ 32 .

Table 4.5: Minimum inhibitory	concentration	results for	carbapenems,	imipenem	(IPM)
and meropenem (MEM).					

MIC (mg/L) ^b	IP:	Μ	М	EM
	n	%	n	%
32	21		13	
16	2	00 5	0	60.0
12	0	00.3	4	00.0
8	0		4	
6	0	28	3	86
3	1	3.8	0	8.0
2	0		2	
1.5	0		1	
1	1		2	
0.75	0	77	1	31 /
0.5	0	1.1	2	51.4
0.38	1		1	
0.125	0		1	
0.094	0		1	
Total	26	100.0	35	100.0

^bMIC interpretive criteria for carbapenems based on CLSI standards (Patel et al., 2014); Susceptible: ≤2, Intermediate: 4, Resistant: ≥8

4.4 Resistance genes, class 1 and class 2 integrons

4.4.1 ESBL and carbapenem resistance genes

Of the 199 clinical strains, only two strains possessed the extra-integron Ambler class A ESBL gene, bla_{GES-20} , while seven possessed the Ambler class B metallo-betalactamase (MBL)/carbapenemase genes, bla_{IMP-4} (n = 3), bla_{VIM-2} (n = 2), and bla_{VIM-11} (n = 4). Two strains harboured both the bla_{VIM-2} and bla_{IMP-4} . All these were MDRPA strains. The nucleotide sequences of the PCR amplicons were validated by DNA sequencing and the BLAST-N search results for nucleotide sequence data are shown in Appendix G to Appendix J. Table 4.6 summarises the genetic contents of the gene cassettes, extra-integron ESBL- and carbapenemase-encoding genes, the resistant phenotypes, and MICs for cephalosporins and carbapenems. Representative agarose gel photos of PCR amplified products of bla_{GES} , bla_{IMP} and bla_{VIM} are shown in Figure 4.7 and 4.8. **Table 4.6:** Gene cassette contents of class 1 integrons, extra-integron resistance genes and resistant phenotypes of *intI*1-bearing clinical *P. aeruginosa* from a Malaysian tertiary hospital (Phoon et al., 2018). Reprinted permission granted by Mary Ann Liebert, Inc.

Integron locus/ Accession number	Gene cassette contents	Amplicon size (bp)	Extra-integron resistance genes	Locus	Resistant phenotype ^a	MIC (mg/L)	No. of strains (Strain ID)
GU169702	bla _{GES-13}	1200	bla _{GES-20}	CP022000	CAZ-FEP-TZP-IPM- MEM-GEN- NET-CIP	CAZ (>256), FEP (64,128), IPM (>32), MEM (>32)	2 (PAC06, PAC08)
KR337993 (5'CS) KU839731 (3'CS)	bla _{VIM-6} bla _{OXA-10} - AAC(6')-Ib	1200, 2600	$bla_{\rm VIM-11}$	NG_050338	CAZ-FEP-TZP-IPM- MEM-GEN-AMK-NET	CAZ (>256), FEP (64,256), IPM (16,>32), MEM (6,8)	2 (PAC138, PAC148)
KR337993 (5'CS) KX241477 (3'CS)	bla _{VIM-6} bla _{OXA-10} - aac(6')-II	_ 2600	$bla_{\rm VIM-11}$	NG_050338	CAZ-FEP-TZP-IPM- MEM-GEN-AMK-NET- CIP	CAZ (>256), FEP (>256), IPM (>32), MEM (>32)	1 (PAC36)
MF168946	bla _{VIM-2}	1200, 2600	bla _{VIM-11}	NG_050338	CAZ-FEP-TZP-IPM- GEN-AMK- NET	CAZ (>256), FEP (48), IPM (>32), MEM (12)	1 (PAC200)
KY860572	aadA6-gcuD	1400	bla _{IMP-4} bla _{VIM-2}	KX711879 FR695889/ FR695890	CAZ-FEP-TZP-IPM- MEM-GEN-AMK-NET- CIP	CAZ (>256), FEP (128,>256), IPM (>32), MEM (>32)	2 (PAC45, PAC51)
KY860572	aadA6-gcuD	1400	bla _{IMP-4}	KX711879	CAZ-FEP-IPM-MEM- GEN-NET-CIP	CAZ (>256), FEP (>256), IPM (>32), MEM (>32)	1 (PAC96)
KY860572	aadA6-gcuD	1400	Not detected	Not applicable	GEN-AMK-NET-CIP	N/T ^b	1 (PAC99)
KY860572	aadA6-gcuD	1400	Not detected	Not applicable	CAZ-FEP-TZP-IPM- MEM-GEN-AMK-NET- CIP	CAZ (>256), FEP (128), IPM (>32), MEM (>32)	1 (PAC17)

^aAntimicrobial agents: ceftazidime (CAZ), cefepime (FEP), piperacillin-tazobactam (TZP), imipenem (IPM), meropenem (MEM), gentamicin (GEN), amikacin (AMK), netilmicin (NET), and ciprofloxacin (CIP). ^bNot Tested



Figure 4.7: Representative agarose gel photo of PCR amplified *bla*_{GES} products. Lane 1: 100bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lane 2: Negative control. Lane 3: Internal amplification control. Lanes 4 to 11: *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos).



Figure 4.8: Representative agarose gel photo of PCR amplified bla_{IMP} and bla_{VIM} products. Lanes 1 and 11: 100bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lane 2: Negative control. Lane 3: Internal amplification control. Lanes 4 to 10: *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos).

4.4.2 Integron-borne gene cassettes

Eleven (10 MDRPA and 1 non-MDRPA) strains harboured the *int11* integrase gene. However, none were positive for the *int12* integrase gene. None of the tested resistance genes and integrons were present in two MDRPA strains; PAC95 and PAC167.

Further analysis of the sequenced 5'CS and 3'CS variable region of the class 1 integrons yielded eight different gene cassettes; bla_{GES-13} , bla_{VIM-2} , bla_{VIM-6} , bla_{OXA-10} , which confer resistance toward beta-lactams; aacA(6')-Ib, aacA(6')-II and aadA6 which confer resistance against aminoglycosides; and gcuD which encodes for a hypothetical protein of unknown function. Strains with high MIC levels for CAZ, FEP, IPM and MEM possessed the corresponding resistance genes except for PAC17, which was resistant to beta-lactams and fluoroquinolone but only harboured the aadA6-gcuD in the class 1 integron gene cassette (Table 4.6).

The *intI1* and gene cassette BLAST-N analysis results of the nucleotide sequence data are shown in Appendix K and Appendix (L to P), respectively. Representative agarose gel photos of PCR amplified products of class 1 integron-encoded integrase, *intI1*, and the class 1 integrons are shown in Figures 4.9 and 4.10, respectively.



Figure 4.9: Representative gel agarose photo of PCR amplified products for class 1 integron-encoded integrase, *int11*. Lanes 1 and 17: 100bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lane 2: Negative control. Lanes 3 to 16: *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos).



Figure 4.10: Representative gel agarose photo of PCR amplified products for class 1 integron. Lanes 1 and 12: 1000bp DNA ladder (Promega). Lanes 2 to 11: *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos).

4.5 Genetic diversity of *P. aeruginosa*

4.5.1 Genetic relatedness of clinical strains based on PFGE analyses

PFGE analysis of the 199 *Spe*I-digested chromosomal DNA yielded 163 reproducible pulsed-field profiles (PFPs; F = 0.61 - 1.00) with 10 to 30 restriction fragments (Figure 4.12) indicating that the strains were genetically diverse. Cluster analysis generated 52 clusters (C1 to C52) at \geq 85% similarity or three-band difference and 27 singletons (UP1 to UP27). One untypeable strain (PAC 199) was excluded from the analysis. Three large clusters were observed in the hospital at \geq 85% similarity. Two different clusters, C16 and C44, comprised of strains which originated from the NICU. Cluster C16, which was the largest cluster in the hospital, comprised of nine indistinguishable strains, while cluster C44 contained six indistinguishable strains. Clonal strains in C35 (n = 5) were isolated from Medical wards 1 and 3, and Haematology 3. A representative PFGE gel photo of *Spe*I-digested *P. aeruginosa* is shown in Figure 4.11.



Figure 4.11: A representative PFGE gel photo for *Spe*I-digested *P. aeruginosa*. Lanes 1, 8 and 15: *Salmonella* serotype Braenderup H9812 DNA size marker. Lanes 2 to 7 and 9 to 14: *P. aeruginosa* strains (strains ID are indicated in the photos).



Figure 4.12: Dendrogram for clinical strains of *P. aeruginosa* based on *Spe*I digestion. Specimen type: Below knee amputation (BKA); Diabetic foot ulcer (DFU); Internal jugular catheter (IJC); Left eye (LE), Osteomyelitis (OM). Locations: Coronary care unit (CCU); Day transplant ward (DT); Emergency department (EMER); First class ward 1 (F1); First class ward 2 (F2); Gynaecology ward (GYN); Haematology 1 ward (H1); Haematology 2 ward (H2); Haematology 3 ward (H3); High dependency ward (HDW); Intensive care unit (ICU); Medical 1 ward (M1); Medical 2 ward (M2); Medical 3 ward (M3); Medical outpatient department (MOPD); Neonatal intensive care unit (NICU); Ophthalmology department (OPTH); Orthopaedic ward (ORTH); Otorhinolaryngology department (ORL); Paediatric 1 ward (P1); Surgical 1 ward (S1); Surgical 2 ward (S3); Surgical 3 ward (S3). PFGE type is categorized as cluster (C) or unique profile (UP).



PAC 79	Sputum	M1	C20
PAC 31	Tissue	S2	C21
PAC 32	Sputum	M2	C21
PAC 169	Right calf infected ulcer	ORTH	C21
PAC 101	Urine	F1	C22
PAC 152	Sputum	M1	C22
PAC 165	Peripheral blood	H1	C23
PAC 47	Urine	M1	C23
PAC 102	Sputum	M1	C24
PAC 72	Sputum	M2	C24
PAC 136	Tracheal aspirate	ICU	C24
PAC 34	Tracheal aspirate	M2	C24
PAC 194	Tracheal aspirate	M1	C24
PAC 62	Sputum	M2	C24
PAC 86	Blood	M2	C25
PAC 89	Tracheal aspirate	CCU	C25
PAC 54	Blood	M2	C26
PAC 55	Urine	M2	C26
PAC 161	Wound breakdown swab	GYN	C26
PAC 41	Tissue from right foot	ORTH	C26
PAC 44	Tissue from right foot	ORTH	C26
PAC 143	Wound breakdown	S3	C27
PAC 145	Pus swab	F2	C27
PAC 97	Wound break down	S3	C27
PAC 175	Wound swab	M2	C27
PAC 45	Tracheal aspirate	ICU	C28
PAC 51	Tracheal aspirate	ICU	C28
PAC 99	Thigh wound abscess	S2	C28
PAC 164	Urine	F1	C29
PAC 17	Blood	H1	C29
PAC 94	Blood, peripheral	DT	C29
PAC 12	Pus swab	M3	C30
PAC 20	Blood	CCU	C30
PAC 114	Post wound debridement	S2	UP6
PAC 28	Blood	GYN	UP7
PAC 04	Sputum	M3	C31
PAC 109	Infected right heel wound	ORTH	C31
PAC 68	Left leg ulcer swab	GYN	UP8
PAC 126	Right foot infected wound	ORTH	C32
PAC 96	Blood, red lumen	H3	C32
PAC 75	Abscess of left thumb	ORTH	C32
PAC 22	Blood, blue lumen	H3	C32
PAC 24	Blood	F2	C32
PAC 95	Tissue from back abscess	H3	C32
PAC 87	Blood, peripheral	H3	C32
PAC 84	Sputum	MOPD	UP9
PAC 42	Sputum	F2	C33
PAC 66	Sputum	M2	C33
PAC 81	Tissue from right hand	S2	C33
PAC 173	Sputum	M1	C33
PAC 77	Right breast cellulitis	S2	UP10
PAC 157	Tracheal aspirate	ICU	C34
PAC 158	Tip from right IJC	ICU	C34
PAC 167	Tracheal aspirate	ICU	C34
PAC 09	Pus swab	S2	UP11
PAC 123	Sputum	M1	C35
PAC 176	Sputum	M1	C35
PAC 192	Sputum	M1	C35
PAC 90	Sputum	M3	C35
PAC 98	Tracheal aspirate	H3	C35
PAC 183	Sputum	M1	C35
PAC 30	Sputum	M2	UP12
PAC 141	Post chest tube removal	M2	UP13
PAC 151	Sacral sore grade 3	S2	UP14
PAC 184	Tracheal aspirate	CCU	C36
PAC 78	Urine	M1	C36
PAC 03	Blood	H2	C36
PAC 129	Diabetic foot ulcer	ORTH	C36
PAC 139	Tracheal aspirate	CCU	C37
PAC 159	Right foot DFU	S2	C37
PAC 25	Blood	GYN	C38
PAC 27	Pus swab	GYN	C38
PAC 140	Right foot infected DFU	S2	C38
PAC 115	Left hand abscess	S2	C39
PAC 14	Sputum	F1	C39
PAC 112	Tracheal aspirate	ICU	C39

Figure 4.12, continued.



Figure 4.12, continued.

4.5.2 PFGE analyses for environmental strains

PFGE analysis of the 29 *Spe*I-digested chromosomal DNA yielded 19 to 28 restriction fragments with 26 reproducible pulsed-field profiles (PFPs; F = 0.72 - 1.00). These indicate that the strains were genetically diverse and the dendrogram is shown in Figure 4.13. Cluster analysis generated 4 clusters (E1 to E4) at \geq 85% similarity and 7 singletons (SN1 to SN7).

Based on the PFGE dendrogram ($\geq 85\%$ similarity), all the strains (n = 7) from E1 originated from the sinks, sink tap handles and counter top surfaces of the pantries in the H2, S1, and S3 wards. However, the strains in E4 (n = 8) were isolated from various

surfaces of the GYN, H2, M1, M2, S2, and S3 wards. This implies that the genetically related environmental *P. aeruginosa* were distributed across the wards on various fomites, from the fifth to the seventh floors of the hospital.



Figure 4.13: Dendrogram for environmental strains of *P. aeruginosa* based on *SpeI* digestion. Specimen source: Counter top and around sink (CTAS), Handwashing sink and drain (HSD), Sink and drain (SD), Sink tap handle (STH). Locations: Gynaecology ward (GYN), Haematology 1 ward (H1), Haematology 2 ward (H2), Haematology 3 ward (H3), Medical 1 ward (M1), Medical 2 ward (M2), Medical 3 ward (M3), Surgical 1 ward (S1), Surgical 2 ward (S2), Surgical 3 ward (S3). PFGE type is categorized as cluster (C) or unique profile (UP).

4.5.3 MLST

4.5.3.1 Genetic relatedness of *P. aeruginosa* based on BURST analyses

Twenty-seven sequence types were identified among the 39 *P. aeruginosa* (Table 4.7). Analysis by eBURST v3, detected 10 BURST groups or clonal complexes (Figure 4.14). These comprised of STs 1417 (n = 2), 553 (n = 2), 266 (n = 2), 167 (n = 2), 381 (n = 2), 708 (n = 4), 809 (n = 2), 235 (n = 2), 1076 (n = 2), 2338 and 2341. The other STs were singletons. From Figure 4.14, the lack of genetic relatedness among all STs is observed, except for STs 2338 and 2341, which are SLVs of each other. Further BURST analysis of this dataset in comparison to the *P. aeruginosa* MLST database, revealed that the Malaysian *P. aeruginosa* strains with STs 111, 179, 207, 235, 274, 381, 446, 532, and 2033 (n = 9) were international predicted founders while ST309 (n = 1) was a subgroup founder (Figure 4.15). The STs 266, 708, 1076, 2329, 2338, and 2341 (n = 6) were SLVs while STs 167, 274, 553, 809, 823, 1400, 1417, 1734, 2335, 2337, 2339, 2340, 2341 (n = 13) were singletons. In addition, STs 2329, 2335, 2337, 2338, 2339, 2340, and 2341 (n = 7) were determined to be the novel allelic profile strains among the studied strains.

 Table 4.7: Sequence types and allelic profiles of representative clinical and environmental *P. aeruginosa* strains

Strain	C/T	Allelic profile							
Label	81	acsA	aroE	guaA	mutL	nuoD	<i>ppsA</i>	<i>trpE</i>	
PAC08	1076	5	4	57	62	1	1	26	
PAC10	1400	44	54	99	48	1	1	163	
PAC11	708	11	3	11	3	1	4	60	
PAC17	235	38	11	3	13	1	2	4	
PAC28	111	17	5	5	4	4	4	3	
PAC29	708	_11	3	11	3	1	4	60	
PAC30	2329	134	8	57	27	1	6	3	
PAC35	266	16	5	11	72	44	7	52	
PAC36	1076	5	4	57	62	1	1	26	
PAC47	381	11	20	1	65	4	4	10	
PAC51	235	38	11	3	13	1	2	4	
PAC54	2335	9	4	11	3	8	7	8	
PAC60	2337	30	202	11	4	4	4	7	
PAC64	553	17	5	1	11	4	4	45	
PAC70	2338	16	5	1	54	58	7	19	
PAC90	1417	16	10	11	85	4	4	10	
PAC93	2339	11	5	11	5	1	6	2	
PAC95	2340	9	131	5	6	12	17	8	
PAC96	235	38	11	3	13	1	2	4	
PAC98	1417	16	10	11	85	4	4	10	
PAC103	266	16	5	11	72	44	7	52	
PAC106	708	11	3	11	3	1	4	60	
PAC107	708	11	3	11	3	1	4	60	
PAC108	2341	16	5	1	3	58	7	19	
PAC135	553	17	5	1	11	4	4	45	
PAC148	809	36	3	6	13	3	6	26	

Strain	CIT.	Allelic profile							
Label	ST	acsA	aroE	guaA	mutL	nuoD	<i>ppsA</i>	<i>trpE</i>	
PAC165	381	11	20	1	65	4	4	10	
PAC167	532	5	4	5	5	5	20	4	
PAC172	207	47	4	5	33	1	6	40	
PAC191	274	23	5	11	7	1	12	7	
PAC199	2033	15	5	30	72	3	6	68	
PAC200	809	36	3	6	13	3	6	26	
PAE14	167	40	5	11	5	4	38	37	
PAE22	167	40	5	11	5	4	38	37	
PAE45	309	13	8	9	3	1	17	15	
PAE48	179	36	27	28	3	4	13	7	
PAE70	1734	11	10	6	11	4	4	7	
PAE88	446	18	4	5	3	1	17	13	
PAE117	823	32	13	24	13	1	6	25	





Figure 4.14: The eBURST v3 generated diagram of the Malaysian STs. The 10 BURST groups/clonal complexes are indicated in the red boxes. The novel allelic profiles are indicated in the blue boxes.



Figure 4.15: Composite image of the BURST groups displaying the lineages of Malaysian STs compared to the international STs from the *P. aeruginosa* PubMLST database. The BURST group founders are indicated by the blue arrows while the sub group founder is indicated by the yellow arrow.

4.5.3.2 Maximum likelihood analyses

Figure 4.16 and Figure 4.17 illustrate the ML rooted tree integrated with STs, PFGE clusters, resistance genes, source, and location of the clinical and environmental *P. aeruginosa* strains, respectively. The nucleotide changes per site are indicated by the 0 to 0.005 cladogram branch lengths (excluding the outgroup). From Figure 4.16, strains on the clades with \geq 70% bootstrap probabilities had identical STs except ST381 (PAC47 and PAC165) which were located on distant branches. In contrast, single locus variants, STs 2338 and 2341 which did not share identical STs, were positioned side by side with 98% clade probability. From the ML analysis of the environmental strains (Figure 4.17), strains PAE14 and PAE22 had identical STs and shared 99% clade probabilities. However, strains PAE48 and PAE70 which did not have the same STs shared 78% clade probabilities.

4.5.3.3 Combined analyses for MLST, PFGE, and resistance genes genotypes

Overall, based on the Maximum Likelihood (ML) trees (Figure 4.16 and 4.17), concordance was observed between the clustering of strains having the same STs or single locus variants with the PFGE clusters. For example, ST553 with C6, ST1417 with C35, ST266 with C48, ST708 with C16, ST809 with C17, ST2338/ST2341 with C44, and ST167 with E2. However, ST235 and ST1076 were further subtyped by PFGE. Two antibiotic susceptible clones detected from the NICU in the integrated analysis, were ST708 and single locus variants, STs 2338 and 2341.

The MDRPA genotypes were observed among the strains of STs 235, 809, and 1076 clonal complexes, however, these drug resistant strains were of diverse backgrounds. In our study, the multidrug resistant ST235 strains showed high level MIC values for ceftazidime, cefepime, imipenem, and meropenem (>256, >128, >32, and 32 mg/L, respectively) due to the presence of the *bla*_{IMP-4} and *bla*_{VIM-2} extra integron

resistance genes. Besides that, the multidrug resistant characteristic for the strains of the ST809 could be attributed to the presence of the class 1 integron bearing the bla_{VIM-6} - bla_{OXA-10} -AAC(6')-Ib and the bla_{VIM-2} gene cassette variants as well as the extra integron bla_{VIM-11} .

On the other hand, different types of class 1 integron gene cassettes and extra integron resistance genes were detected for ST1076 MDRPA strains. Strain PAC08 harboured the bla_{GES-13} gene cassette and bla_{GES-20} extra integron resistance gene while strain PAC36 harboured the gene cassette containing the bla_{VIM-6} , bla_{OXA-10} - aac(6')-II genes and the extra integron bla_{VIM-11} . The high level of MICs in these two strains (>64 mg/L for ceftazidime, and cefepime, and >32 for imipenem, and meropenem) could be due to the cumulative expression of their multiple resistance genes. However, there were no resistotypes among the environmental strains.



Figure 4.16: Bootstrap cladogram of clinical *P. aeruginosa* MLST sequence types (ST) based on Maximum Likelihood method (Tamura-Nei model) in comparison with PFGE clusters (PC). The bootstrap test (2000 replicates) percentage of associated taxa clustered together is shown next to the branches. ^aSequence type; ^bPFGE cluster; ^cResistance genes from class 1 integron gene cassettes (GC) and extra-integron (EI) genes detected by PCR and confirmed by nucleotide sequencing: (ND) Not Detected, (I) GC - *bla*_{GES-13}, EI - *bla*_{GES-10}, (II) GC - *aadA6*, EI - Not detected, (III) GC - *bla*_{VIM-6}, EI - *bla*_{VIM-11}, (IV) GC - *aadA6-orfD*, EI - *bla*_{IMP-4} and *bla*_{VIM-2}, (V) GC - *aadA6-orfD*, EI - *bla*_{VIM-11}, and (VII) GC - *bla*_{VIM-2}, EI - *bla*_{VIM-11}, ^d Source & location: Tracheal aspirate (Tracheal asp.), Braochoalveolar lavage (BAL), Intensive care unit (ICU), Neonatal intensive care unit (NICU), Emergency unit (Emer), Surgical 1 (S1), Surgical 3 (S3), Gynaecology (Gyn), Medical 1 (M1), Medical 2 (M2), Medical 3 (M3), Haematology 1 (H1), Haematology 2 (H2) and Haematology 3 (H3) (Phoon et al., 2018). Reprinted permission granted by Mary Ann Liebert, Inc.



Figure 4.17: Bootstrap cladogram of environmental *P. aeruginosa* MLST sequence types (ST) based on Maximum Likelihood method (Tamura-Nei model) in comparison with PFGE clusters (PC). The bootstrap test (2000 replicates) percentage of associated taxa clustered together is shown next to the branches. ^aSequence type; ^bPFGE cluster; ^cSource & location: Counter top and around sink surfaces (CTAS), Handwashing sink and drain (HSD), Patient's mattress surface (PMS), Sink and drain (SD), Nurses' station 1 (NS 1), Patients' toilet (PT), Surgical 3 ward (S3), Medical 1 ward (M1), Medical 2 ward (M2), Medical 3 ward (M3), Haematology 1 ward (H1), Haematology 2 ward (H2) and Haematology 3 ward (H3).

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

The periodic investigation of antibiotic resistance profiles and the resistance genes among clinical *P. aeruginosa* strains Malaysia is useful to gauge the level of activity among commonly prescribed antipseudomonal drugs. In this hospital, the susceptibility of the strains towards carbapenems and piperacillin-tazobactam, were the lowest ($\leq 90\%$), whilst \geq 90% of the strains remained susceptible to all other classes of antimicrobial This implies that therapeutic carbapenems agents tested. use of and piperacillin/tazobactam could become limited. According to the hospital's 2014 Antibiotic Usage report (data not shown), piperacillin/tazobactam, meropenem, imipenem, cefepime, and ceftazidime were among the top 10 most frequently administered antibiotics in the wards. Antibiotic selection pressure resulted in the enhanced growth of antibiotic resistant variants (Davies & Davies, 2010). In a multicentre retrospective study by Micek et al. (2015), the initial inappropriate antibiotic prescription is significantly correlated (p < 0.001) to the incidence of MDRPA and P. aeruginosapneumonia amongst hospitalized patients. Hence, the hospital's continuous judicious antibiotic therapy and review of the annual antibiotic susceptibility profiles are fundamental to detect and prevent emerging MDRPA.

The environmental *P. aeruginosa* in this study were found to be susceptible to all antimicrobial agents tested. This implies that there were no environmental reservoirs of drug resistant *P. aeruginosa* found in various locations in the hospital at the time of sampling. A study conducted by Crespo et al. (2004), recovered imipenem-resistant strains from the sinks (n = 9) and stethoscope (n = 1) in the ICU and sinks (n = 3) in the NICU. Two studies reported recovering *P. aeruginosa* from bronchoscopes (Mackie et al., 2003) and from fentanyl, morphine and water for medication dilution (Suraiya et al., 2008) which were implicated in outbreaks among hospitalized patients. This study was

conducted randomly and therefore no assumption of links could be determined between the clinical and environmental strains. Future investigations with a more targeted approach is warranted.

In this study, the majority of the clinical *P. aeruginosa* strains were isolated from respiratory specimens from patients in the medical wards. Based on clinical reports (unpublished data), patients from these medical wards had underlying diseases such as diabetes mellitus (DM), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and cancers which predisposed them to opportunistic *P. aeruginosa* infections. Results from an international study involving 12 hospitals from five countries showed that patients with DM or COPD co-morbidities were significantly (p < 0.05) more likely to have MDRPA infections (Micek et al., 2015). Our study concurred with these findings. The environmental *P. aeruginosa* strains in this study were mostly isolated from moist and semi aqueous environments such as handwashing sinks, tap handles, and pantry counter tops around the sink. This finding concurred with previous studies which showed that *P. aeruginosa* are commonly found in water systems and taps of healthcare facilities (Kelsey, 2013). The persistence of *P. aeruginosa* in the environment of the hospital is due to the biofilm forming ability of the bacteria which are highly robust and can withstand chemical treatments (Lieleg et al., 2011).

The high levels of resistance to beta-lactam antibiotics such as the cephalosporins and carbapenems were mediated by the *bla_{OX4}*, *bla_{VIM}* and *bla_{IMP}* genes detected in our study. Our data concurred with findings by other Malaysian studies (Khosravi et al., 2010, 2011; Lim et al., 2009) and previously published reports by Toval et al. (2015), Hansen et al. (2014), and Farshadzadeh et al. (2014). The IMP-4, VIM-2, and VIM-11 subtypes of *P. aeruginosa* identified in this study were similar to Khosravi et al.'s study (2010). However, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first report of the Ambler class A ESBL gene, *bla*_{GES} (*bla*_{GES-13} and *bla*_{GES-20} variants) detected in Malaysia. The *bla*_{GES}-bearing *P*. *aeruginosa* was first detected in Evgenidion General Hospital, Athens (2007-2008) and subsequently reported in studies from Turkey (2014) and Brazil (2012) (Iraz et al., 2014; Kotsakis et al., 2010; Polotto et al., 2012). No resistance genes were detected from two MDRPA strains (PAC95 and PAC167). Meanwhile, the PAC17 strain, which only harboured the *aadA6-gcuD* was resistant to beta-lactams and fluoroquinolone. Cephalosporin resistance may occur as a result of acquired beta-lactamases, total derepression of chromosomal AmpC or upregulation in efflux systems while carbapenem resistance is often due to loss of OprD porins, upregulation of efflux pump mechanisms or acquisition of beta-lactamases (Livermore, 2002). A cumulative combination of several other resistance mechanisms give rise to multidrug resistance. However, other mechanisms and genes of resistance were not exhaustively investigated in this study; hence future work on the MDRPA strains is warranted.

Two different subtyping tools were used to analyse the genetic relatedness of the strains in this study. The PFGE method subtyped the strains from the NICU into two major clusters and this finding agreed with the MLST data. This implies that there was an undetected outbreak of antibiotic susceptible *P. aeruginosa* clones at the time of sampling. PFGE subtyped the 199 clinical strains into 52 clusters (\geq 85% similarity) and 27 singletons and the 29 environmental strains into four clusters and seven singletons. This indicates that the strains were genetically heterogeneous and that there were multiple subtypes of *P. aeruginosa* circulating in the different locations or wards in the hospital. While there is a concordance between the strains clustered by PFGE and MLST, there were also exceptions. For example, ST235 and ST1076 which were further subtyped by PFGE. Johnson et al. (2007) reported that PFGE was more discriminatory than MLST (Simpson's *D* value, 0.999 and 0.975, respectively) for subtyping *P. aeruginosa*, which could explain the occurrence of the discordant results. In addition, another study reported

occasional overdiscrimination for some STs by PFGE and that the two typing methods are highly unlikely to have 100% concordance due to the basic differences in approach to molecular genotyping (Kidd et al., 2011).

PFGE genotyping is reliable, reproducible and advantageous for local outbreak investigations. However, it is limited because clustering of the strains cannot be linked to international lineages. The investigation of the genetic linkage for drug resistant international lineages is better mapped via MLST. P. aeruginosa ST111 and ST235 strains were previously reported to be multidrug or extensively-drug resistant high-risk international clones found in France, Germany, Japan, Spain and Belgium (Hansen et al., 2014; Hong et al., 2015). The ST235 strains in our study were also multidrug resistant with high MIC values for ceftazidime, cefepime, imipenem, and meropenem (>256, >128, >32, and 32 mg/L, respectively). However, the ST111 strain in this study was susceptible towards all antibiotics tested. ST235 strains harbouring blavim-2, blaimp-1, and blaimp-7 were reported from a Singaporean study (Koh et al., 2010). Furthermore, blavIM-2carrying-ST235 was widely distributed in a study involving six Asian countries while ST111 was not detected (Kim et al., 2013). Hence, the occurrence of the ST235 among Malaysian P. aeruginosa is indicative of a global dissemination of the drug resistant clone. A 2013 Spanish study showed that the ST809 strains isolated from cystic fibrosis patients were non-MDRPA (Fernández-Olmos et al., 2013). This report differs from our findings on MDRPA ST809 lineage which harboured metallo-beta-lactamase encoding genes. The ST1076 in this study is unique because one of the MDRPA strains possesses the ESBL-encoding bla_{GES} while the other possesses the bla_{VIM-6} MBL and bla_{OXA-10} ESBL genes concurrently. These characteristics also differed from the recently reported ST1076 from South Korea which did not harbour any MBL-encoding genes (Lee et al., 2013).

The STs 179, 309 and 446 among the environmental *P. aeruginosa* in this study were also previously reported. In Spain, researchers at a university hospital reported characterizing ST179 as one of the 21 STs of persistent isolates from cystic fibrosis patients (Fernández-Olmos et al., 2013). ST309 and ST446 were genotyped by researchers from South Korea and were identified as metallo- β -lactamase-producing and multidrug resistant *P. aeruginosa*, respectively (Hong et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2013). However, in our study, these strains were all susceptible to all classes of antimicrobials tested. Future on-going surveillance of hospital environmental fomites and sources are warranted to monitor these STs to detect emergence of antimicrobial resistance which pose a serious nosocomial infection risk.

There are several limitations in this study. The sampling of clinical and environmental *P. aeruginosa* were not performed in parallel to establish the potential nosocomial infection link between the strains found in the hospital environment to the clinical strains isolated from patients. A more targeted study of nosocomial infections caused by exogenous sources of *P. aeruginosa* is warranted for future investigations. Furthermore, the study of the *P. aeruginosa* resistance mechanisms was not exhaustive and thus could not explain the multidrug resistance exhibited in two of the strains in this study, PAC95 and PAC167. Hence, further testing is required to determine other mechanisms of drug resistance in these strains.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION

From this study, the highest numbers of isolated clinical *P. aeruginosa* were from respiratory specimens of patients with co-morbidities while the environmental P. aeruginosa were from handwashing sinks in the wards. The antimicrobial susceptibility profiles of all the *P. aeruginosa* strains in this tertiary hospital showed that the majority of the strains were susceptible to most of the antimicrobial agents tested. However, the presence of MDRPA strains is still a cause for concern because of the high level cephalosporin and carbapenem resistance mediated by the blages, blaoxa, blavim and *bla*_{IMP} resistance genes which can be easily disseminated via the class 1 integron. PFGE subtyping of all the strains showed that DNA fingerprints were heterogeneous and diverse. The two major clusters from the NICU subtyped by PFGE and MLST implied that there was an undetected outbreak of antibiotic susceptible P. aeruginosa clones within the sampling duration. By utilizing the MLST subtyping method, a high risk MDRPA clone was identified in this study. The clonal spread of the international high risk clone ST235 in Malaysia requires future close monitoring. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report of the *bla*_{GES-13} and *bla*_{GES-20} ESBL-encoding gene variants and novel sequence types (STs 2329, 2335, 2337, 2338, 2339, 2340, and 2341) of P. aeruginosa in Malaysia.

REFERENCES

- Abu, N. A., Nor, F. M., Mohamad, M., Abidin, A. S. Z., Adnan, A., Nor, N. S. M., & Kaur, A. A. (2016). Community-acquired bacteremia in paediatrics: Epidemiology, aetiology and patterns of antimicrobial resistance in a tertiary care centre, Malaysia. *Medical Journal of Malaysia*, 71(3), 117–121.
- Alexopoulou, K., Foka, A., Petinaki, E., Jelastopulu, E., Dimitracopoulos, G., & Spiliopoulou, I. (2006). Comparison of two commercial methods with PCR restriction fragment length polymorphism of the *tuf* gene in the identification of coagulase-negative staphylococci. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 43(4), 450–454.
- Barrett, T. J., Gerner-Smidt, P., & Swaminathan, B. (2006). Interpretation of pulsed-field gel electrophoresis patterns in foodborne disease investigations and surveillance. *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, 3(1), 20–31.
- Brasme, L., Nordmann, P., Fidel, F., Lartigue, M. F., Bajolet, O., Poirel, L., ... De Champs, C. (2007). Incidence of class A extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in Champagne-Ardenne (France): a 1 year prospective study. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 60(5), 956–964.
- Bush, K., & Jacoby, G. A. (2010). Updated functional classification of beta-lactamases. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 54(3), 969–976.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2013). *Antibiotic resistance threats*. Office of Infectious Diseases. U.S. Department for Health and Human Services. Atlanta, Georgia: U.S.
- Chittawatanarat, K., Jaipakdee, W., Chotirosniramit, N., Chandacham, K., & Jirapongcharoenlap, T. (2014). Microbiology, resistance patterns, and risk factors of mortality in ventilator-associated bacterial pneumonia in a northern Thai tertiarycare university based general surgical intensive care unit. *Infection and Drug Resistance*, 7, 203-210.
- Crespo, M. P., Woodford, N., Sinclair, A., Kaufmann, M. E., Glover, J., Velez, J. D., ... Castan, C. R. (2004). Outbreak of carbapenem-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* producing VIM-8, a novel metallo-β-lactamase, in a tertiary care center in Cali, Colombia. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 42(11), 5094-5101.
- Curran, B., Jonas, D., Grundmann, H., Pitt, T., & Dowson, C. G. (2004). Development of a multilocus sequence typing scheme for the opportunistic pathogen *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *42*(12), 5644–5649.
- Dallenne, C., da Costa, A., Decré, D., Favier, C., & Arlet, G. (2010). Development of a set of multiplex PCR assays for the detection of genes encoding important β-lactamases in Enterobacteriaceae. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 65(3), 490–495.
- Davies, J., & Davies, D. (2010). Origins and evolution of antibiotic resistance. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 74(3), 417–433.

- De Vos, D., Lim, A., Pirnay, J. P., Struelens, M., Vandenvelde, C., Duinslaeger, L., ... Cornelis, P. (1997). Direct detection and identification of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in clinical samples such as skin biopsy specimens and expectorations by multiplex PCR based on two outer membrane lipoprotein genes, *oprI* and *oprL. Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 35(6), 1295–1299.
- Deng, Y., Bao, X., Ji, L., Chen, L., Liu, J., Miao, J., ... Yu, G. (2015). Resistance integrons: class 1, 2 and 3 integrons. *Annals of Clinical Microbiology and Antimicrobials*, 14(45). Retrieved 15 February 2017, from https://annclinmicrob.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12941-015-0100-6.
- Deplano, A., Denis, O., Poirel, L., Hocquet, D., Nonhoff, C., Nordmann, P., ... Byl, B. (2005). Molecular characterization of an epidemic clone of panantibiotic-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 43(3), 1198–1204.
- Evans, M., Kaczmarek, F. S., Stutzman-engwall, K., & Dyson, P. (1994). Characterization of a *Streptomyces lividans*-type site-specific DNA modification system in the avermectin-producer *Streptomyces avermitilis* permits investigation of two novel giant linear plasmids, pSAl and pSA2. *Microbiology*, 140, 1367-1371.
- Farshadzadeh, Z., Khosravi, A. D., Alavi, S. M., Parhizgari, N., & Hoveizavi, H. (2014). Spread of extended-spectrum β-lactamase genes of *bla*_{OXA-10}, *bla*_{PER-1} and *bla*_{CTX-M} in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains isolated from burn patients. *Burns*, 40(8), 1575– 1580.
- Feil, E. J., Li, B. C., Aanensen, D. M., Hanage, W. P., & Spratt, B. G. (2004). eBURST: Inferring patterns of evolutionary descent among clusters of related bacterial genotypes from multilocus sequence typing data. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 186(5), 1518–1530.
- Fernández-Olmos, A., García-Castillo, M., María Alba, J., Morosini, M. I., Lamas, A., Romero, B., ... Cantón, R. (2013). Population structure and antimicrobial susceptibility of both nonpersistent and persistent *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates recovered from cystic fibrosis patients. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 51(8), 2761–2765.
- Foxman, B., & Riley, L. (2001). Molecular epidemiology: Focus on infection. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 153(12), 1135–1141.
- Gillings, M. R. (2014). Integrons: Past, Present, and Future. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 78(2), 257–277.
- Giske, C. G., Libisch, B., Colinon, C., Scoulica, E., Pagani, L., Füzi, M., ... Rossolini, G. M. (2006). Establishing clonal relationships between VIM-1-like metallo-betalactamase-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains from four European countries by multilocus sequence typing. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 44(12), 4309– 4315.
- Glupczynski, Y., Bogaerts, P., Deplano, A., Berhin, C., Huang, T.-D., Van Eldere, J., & Rodriguez-Villalobos, H. (2010). Detection and characterization of class A extended-spectrum-beta-lactamase-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates in Belgian hospitals. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 65(5), 866–871.

- Gooderham, W. J., & Hancock, R. E. W. (2009). Regulation of virulence and antibiotic resistance by two-component regulatory systems in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, *33*(2), 279–294.
- Hall, B. G. (2013). Building phylogenetic trees from molecular data with MEGA. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 30(5), 1229–1235.
- Hall, B. G., & Barlow, M. (2006). Phylogenetic analysis as a tool in molecular epidemiology of infectious diseases. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 16(3), 157–169.
- Hansen, F., Johansen, H. K., Ostergaard, C., Arpi, M., Hansen, D. S., Littauer, P., ... Justesen, U. S. (2014). Characterization of carbapenem nonsusceptible *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in Denmark: A Nationwide, Prospective Study. *Microbial Drug Resistance*, 20(1), 22–29.
- Hauser, A. R., & Rello, J. (Eds.). (2003). Severe infections caused by Pseudomonas aeruginosa. US: Springer.
- Ho, S. E., Subramaniam, G., Palasubramaniam, S., & Navaratnam, P. (2002). Carbapenem-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in Malaysia producing IMP-7 betalactamase. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 46(10), 3286–3287.
- Hong, D. J., Bae, I. K., Jang, I. H., Jeong, S. H., Kang, H. K., & Lee, K. (2015). Epidemiology and characteristics of metallo-beta-lactamase-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Infection and Chemotherapy*, 47(2), 81–97.
- Hunter, S. B., Vauterin, P., Lambert-Fair, M. A., Van Duyne, M. S., Kubota, K., Graves, L., ... Ribot, E. (2005). Establishment of a universal size standard strain for use with the pulsenet standardized pulsed-field gel electrophoresis protocols: Converting the national databases to the new size standard. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 43(3), 1045–1050.
- Iraz, M., Duzgun, A. O., Cicek, A. C., Bonnin, R. a., Ceylan, A., Saral, A., ... Sandalli, C. (2014). Characterization of novel VIM carbapenemase, VIM-38, and first detection of GES-5 carbapenem-hydrolyzing β-lactamases in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in Turkey. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, 78(3), 292– 294.
- Jiang, X., Zhang, Z., Li, M., Zhou, D., Ruan, F., & Lu, Y. (2006). Detection of extendedspectrum β-lactamases in clinical isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 50(9), 2990–2995.
- Johnson, J. K., Arduino, S. M., Stine, O. C., Johnson, J. A., & Harris, A. D. (2007). Multilocus sequence typing compared to pulsed-field gel electrophoresis for molecular typing of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 45(11), 3707–3712.
- Keen, E. F., Robinson, B. J., Hospenthal, D. R., Aldous, W. K., Wolf, S. E., Chung, K. K., & Murray, C. K. (2010). Prevalence of multidrug-resistant organisms recovered at a military burn center. *Burns*, 36(6), 819-825.

- Kelsey, M. (2013). Pseudomonas in augmented care: Should we worry? Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 68(12), 2697–2700.
- Khosravi, Y., Tay, S. T., & Vadivelu, J. (2010). Metallo-beta-lactamase-producing imipenem-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clinical isolates in a university teaching hospital in Malaysia: Detection of IMP-7 and first identification of IMP-4, VIM-2, and VIM-11. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, 67(3), 294–296.
- Khosravi, Y., Tay, S. T., & Vadivelu, J. (2011). Analysis of integrons and associated gene cassettes of metallo-β-lactamase-positive *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in Malaysia. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 60, 988–994.
- Kidd, T. J., Grimwood, K., Ramsay, K. A., Rainey, P. B., & Bell, S. C. (2011). Comparison of three molecular techniques for typing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates in sputum samples from patients with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 49(1), 263–268.
- Kim, M. J., Bae, I. K., Jeong, S. H., Kim, S. H., Song, J. H., Choi, J. Y., ... Lee, K. (2013). Dissemination of metallo-beta-lactamase-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* of sequence type 235 in Asian countries. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 68(12), 2820–2824.
- Kipnis, E., Sawa, T., & Wiener-Kronish, J. (2006). Targeting mechanisms of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* pathogenesis. *Medecine et Maladies Infectieuses*, 36(2), 78–91.
- Koh, T. H., Khoo, C. T., Tan, T. T., Arshad, M. A. M., Ang, L. P., Lau, L. J., ... Ooi, E. E. (2010). Multilocus sequence types of carbapenem-resistant *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa in Singapore carrying metallo-beta-lactamase genes, including the novel bla_{IMP-26} gene. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 48(7), 2563–2564.
- Koort, J. M. K., Lukinmaa, S., Rantala, M., Koort, J. M. K., Lukinmaa, S., Rantala, M., & Unkila, E. (2002). Technical improvement to prevent DNA degradation of enteric pathogens in pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 40(9), 3497–3499.
- Kotsakis, S. D., Papagiannitsis, C. C., Tzelepi, E., Legakis, N. J., Miriagou, V., & Tzouvelekis, L. S. (2010). GES-13, a beta-lactamase variant possessing Lys-104 and Asn-170 in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 54(3), 1331–1333.
- Kumar, S., Stecher, G., & Tamura, K. (2016). MEGA7: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis version 7.0 for bigger datasets. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 33(7), 1870-1874.
- Lee, J. Y., Peck, K. R., & Ko, K. S. (2013). Selective advantages of two major clones of carbapenem-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates (CC235 and CC641) from Korea: Antimicrobial resistance, virulence and biofilm-forming activity. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 62(7), 1015–1024.
- Lee, K., Lim, J. B., Yum, J. H., Yong, D., Chong, Y., Kim, J. M., & Livermore, D. M. (2002). *blavIM-2* cassette-containing novel integrons in metallo-beta-lactamaseproducing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Pseudomonas putida* isolates disseminated in a Korean hospital. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 46(4), 1053–1058.
- Lee, S., Park, Y.-J., Kim, M., Lee, H. K., Han, K., Kang, C. S., & Kang, M. W. (2005). Prevalence of Ambler class A and D beta-lactamases among clinical isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in Korea. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 56(1), 122–127.
- Lerner, A., Adler, A., Abu-Hanna, J., Meitus, I., Navon-Venezia, S., & Carmeli, Y. (2013). Environmental contamination by carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 51(1), 177–181.
- Liakopoulos, A., Mavroidi, A., Katsifas, E. A., Theodosiou, A., Karagouni, A. D., Miriagou, V., & Petinaki, E. (2013). Carbapenemase-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from central Greece: Molecular epidemiology and genetic analysis of class I integrons. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 13, 505. Retrieved 9 September 2016 from http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2334/13/505.
- Lieleg, O., Caldara, M., Baumgärtel, R., & Ribbeck, K. (2011). Mechanical robustness of *Pseudomonasa aeruginosa* biofilms. *Soft Matter*, 7(7), 3307-3314.
- Lim, K. T., Yasin, R. M., Yeo, C.C., Puthucheary, S. D., Balan, G., Maning, N., ... Thong, K. L. (2009). Genetic fingerprinting and antimicrobial susceptibility profiles of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* hospital isolates in Malaysia. *Journal of Microbiology, Immunology and Infection*, 42(3), 197–209.
- Lister, P. D., Wolter, D. J., & Hanson, N. D. (2009). Antibacterial-resistant *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa: Clinical impact and complex regulation of chromosomally encoded resistance mechanisms. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 22(4), 582–610.
- Livermore, D. M. (2002). Multiple mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: our worst nightmare? *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 34(5), 634–640.
- Machado, E., Canto, R., Baquero, F., Gala, J., & Coque, T. M. (2005). Integron content of extended-spectrum-beta-lactamase-producing *Escherichia coli* strains over 12 years in a single hospital in Madrid, Spain. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 49(5), 1823–1829.
- Mackie, K., Hartsell, T. L., Jones, H. D., Ross, T. L., Merz, W., ... Perl, T. M. (2003). An outbreak of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections associated with flexible bronchoscopes. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 348(3), 221–227.
- Magiorakos, A.-P., Srinivasan, A., Carey, R. B., Carmeli, Y., Falagas, M. E., Giske, C. G., ... Monnet, D. L. (2012). Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant and pandrug-resistant bacteria: An international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 18(3), 268–281.

- Maiden, M. C., Bygraves, J. A, Feil, E., Morelli, G., Russell, J. E., Urwin, R., ... Spratt, B. G. (1998). Multilocus sequence typing: A portable approach to the identification of clones within populations of pathogenic microorganisms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95(6), 3140–3145.
- Maiden, M. C. J. (2006). Multilocus sequence typing of bacteria. Annual Review of Microbiology, 60, 561–588.
- Mathee, K., Ciofu, O., Sternberg, C., Lindum, P. W., Campbell, J. I. A, Jensen, P., ... Kharazmi, A. (1999). Mucoid conversion of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by hydrogen peroxide: A mechanism for virulence activation in the cystic fibrosis lung. *Microbiology*, 145(6), 1349–1357.
- Micek, S. T., Wunderink, R. G., Kollef, M. H., Chen, C., Rello, J., Chastre, J., ... Menon, V. (2015). An international multicenter retrospective study of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* nosocomial pneumonia: Impact of multidrug resistance. *Critical Care*, 19(1), 219. Retrieved 13 November 2015, from https://ccforum.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13054-015-0926-5.
- Naas, T., Poirel, L., Karim, A., & Nordmann, P. (1999). Molecular characterization of In50, a class 1 integron encoding the gene for the extended-spectrum beta-lactamase VEB-1 in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 176(2), 411–419.
- Pagani, L., Mantengoli, E., Migliavacca, R., Nucleo, E., Pollini, S., Spalla, M., ... Rossolini, G. M. (2004). Multifocal detection of multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* producing the PER-1 extended-spectrum beta-lactamase in Northern Italy. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 42(6), 2523–2529.
- Parkins, M. D., Gregson, D. B., Pitout, J. D. D., Ross, T., & Laupland, K. B. (2010). Population-based study of the epidemiology and the risk factors for *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa bloodstream infection. *Infection*, 38(1), 25–32.
- Patel, J. B., Cockerill III, F. R., Bradford, P. A., Eliopoulos, G. M., Hindler, J. A., Jenkins, S. G., ... Zimmer, B. L. (2014). M100-S24 Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing; Twenty-Fourth Informational Supplement. Wayne, Pennsylvania: U.S. Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute.
- Pathmanathan, S. G., Samat, N. A., & Mohamed, R. (2009). Antimicrobial susceptibility of clinical isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from a Malaysian hospital. *Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences*, 16(2), 27–32.
- Pharmaceutical Services Division. (2014). National Antibiotic Guideline 2014. Selangor, P. J.: Malaysia. Ministry of Health Malaysia.
- Phoon, H. Y. P., Hussin, H., Hussain, B. M., Thong, K. L. (2018). Molecular characterization of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase- and carbapanemaseproducing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains from a Malaysian tertiary hospital. *Microbial Drug Resistance*. Advance online publication. doi: 10.1089/mdr.2017.0258.

- Poirel, L., Carrër, A., Pitout, J. D., & Nordmann, P. (2009). Integron mobilization unit as a source of mobility of antibiotic resistance genes. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 53(6), 2492–2498.
- Poirel, L., Lambert, T., Tu, S., Gaillard, J., & Nordmann, P. (2001). Characterization of class 1 integrons from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* that contain the *bla*_{VIM-2} carbapenem-hydrolyzing-lactamase gene and of two novel aminoglycoside resistance gene cassettes. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 45(2), 546–552.
- Poirel, L., Walsh, T. R., Cuvillier, V., & Nordmann, P. (2011). Multiplex PCR for detection of acquired carbapenemase genes. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease*, 70(1), 119–123.
- Polotto, M., Casella, T., Oliveira, M. G. de L., Rúbio, F. G., Nogueira, M. L., de Almeida, M. T. G., & Nogueira, M. C. L. (2012). Detection of *P. aeruginosa* harboring *bla*_{CTX-M-2}, *bla*_{GES-1} and *bla*_{GES-5}, *bla*_{IMP-1} and *bla*_{SPM-1} causing infections in Brazilian tertiary-care hospital. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *12*, 1–8.
- Pournaras, S., Maniati, M., Petinaki, E., Tzouvelekis, L. S., Tsakris, A., Legakis, N. J., & Maniatis, A. N. (2003). Hospital outbreak of multiple clones of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa carrying the unrelated metallo-β-lactamase gene variants bla_{VIM-2} and bla_{VIM-4}. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 51(6), 1409–1414.
- Quinn, J. P., Dudek, E. J., DiVincenzo, C. A., Lucks, D. A., & Lerner, S. A. (1986). Emergence of resistance to imipenem during therapy for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 154(2), 289–294.
- Raja, N. S., & Singh, N. N. (2007). Antimicrobial susceptibility pattern of clinical isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in a tertiary care hospital. *Journal of Microbiology*, *Immunology and Infection*, 40(1), 45–49.
- Ranellou, K., Kadlec, K., Poulou, A., Voulgari, E., Vrioni, G., Schwarz, S., & Tsakris, A. (2012). Detection of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates of the international clonal complex 11 carrying the *bla*_{PER-1} extended-spectrum β-lactamase gene in Greece. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 67(2), 357–361.
- Römling, U., & Tümmler, B. (2000). Achieving 100 % Typeability of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 38(1), 464–465.
- Sabat, A. J., Budimir, A., Nashev, D., Sá-Leão, R., van Dijl, J., Laurent, F., ... Friedrich, A. W. Overview of molecular typing methods for outbreak detection and epidemiological surveillance. (2013). *Euro Surveillance*, 18(4). Retrieved 21 August 2015, from http://www.eurosurveillance.org/ViewArticle.aspx?ArticleId=20380.
- Sekiguchi, J. I., Asagi, T., Miyoshi-Akiyama, T., Kasai, A., Mizuguchi, Y., Araake, M., ... Kirikae, T. (2007). Outbreaks of multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in community hospitals in Japan. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 45(3), 979–989.
- Singh, A., Goering, R. V., Simjee, S., Foley, S. L., & Zervos, M. J. (2006). Application of molecular techniques to the study of hospital infection. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 19(3), 512–530.

- Spencker, F. B., Haupt, S., Claros, M. C., Walter, S., Lietz, T., Schille, R., & Rodloff, A. C. (2000). Epidemiologic characterization of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 6(11), 600–607.
- Spilker, T., Coenye, T., Vandamme, P., & Lipuma, J. J. (2004). PCR-based assay for differentiation of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from other Pseudomonas species recovered from cystic fibrosis patients. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 42(5), 2074–2079.
- Spratt, B. G., Hanage, W. P., Li, B., Aanensen, D. M., & Feil, E. J. (2004). Displaying the relatedness among isolates of bacterial species - The eBURST approach. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 241(2), 129–134.
- Stemper, M. E., Foley, S. L., Goering, R. V, & Shukla, S. K. (2011). Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. In S. L. Foley, A. Y. Chen, S. Simjee, & M. J. Zervos (Eds.), *Molecular techniques for the study of hospital-acquired infection* (1st ed., pp. 145– 160). New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Stokes, H. W., Martinez, E., Chowdhury, P. R., & Djordjevic, S. (2012). Class 1 integronassociated spread of resistance regions in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: Plasmid or chromosomal platforms? *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 67(7), 1799– 1800.
- Suraiya, S. M. N., Hassan, H., Rahman, Z. A., Mohamed, Z., Deris, Z. Z., Hasas, S. A., ... Thong, K.L. (2008). Source identification of nosocomial outbreak of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by pulsed field gel electrophoresis analysis. *International Medical Journal*, 15(5), 323–328.
- Tamura, K., & Nei, M. (1993). Estimation of the number of base nucleotide substitutions in the control region of mitochondrial DNA in humans and chimpanzees. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 10(3), 512–526.
- Toval, F., Guzma, A., Madriz, V., Somogyi, T., Rodriguez, C., & Garcia, F. (2015). Predominance of carbapenem-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates carrying *bla*_{IMP} and *bla*_{VIM} metallo-β-lactamases in a major hospital in Costa Rica. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 64, 37–43.
- Weldhagen, G. F., Poirel, L., & Nordmann, P. (2003). Ambler Class A extended-spectrum β-Lactamases in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: Novel developments and clinical impact. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 47(8), 2385–2392.
- Wolfgang, M. C., Kulasekara, B. R., Liang, X., Boyd, D., Wu, K., Yang, Q., ... Lory, S. (2003). Conservation of genome content and virulence determinants among clinical and environmental isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(14), 8484-8489.
- Woodford, N., Zhang, J., Kaufmann, M. E., Yarde, S., Tomas, M. D. M., Faris, C., ... Livermore, D. M. (2008). Detection of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates producing VEB-type extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in the United Kingdom. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 62(6), 1265–1268.

Wright, L. L., Turton, J. F., Hopkins, K. L., Livermore, D. M., & Woodford, N. (2015). Genetic environment of metallo-beta-lactamase genes in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates from the UK. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 70, 3250–3258.

List of publications:

- Phoon, H. Y. P., Hussin, H., Hussain, B. M., & Thong, K. L. (2018). Molecular characterization of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase- and carbapenemase-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains from a Malaysian tertiary hospital. *Microbial Drug Resistance*. Advance online publication, doi: 10.1089/mdr. 2017.0258.
- **Phoon, H. Y. P.**, Hussin, H., Hussain, B. M., Lim, S. Y., Woon, J. J., Er, Y. X., & Thong, K. L. (2018). Distribution, genetic diversity and antibiotic resistance of clinically important bacteria from the environment of a tertiary hospital. *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance, 14,* 132-140.

List of presentations:

- Phoon, H. Y. P., Hussin, H., & Thong, K. L. (2015, Apr). A snapshot of antibiotic resistance of <u>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</u> in a major specialist hospital in the Klang Valley. Poster presented at the Infection Disease & Microbial Genomics Conference, Putrajaya, Malaysia.
- Phoon H. Y. P., & Thong K. L. (2016, Dec). Prevalence and distribution of potential nosocomial pathogens from exogenous sources in a tertiary care hospital in Malaysia. Poster presented at the 21st Biological Science Graduate Congress, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.